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Glossary 
 

Abbreviation  Definition or Description 

  

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

BLSA The Business Leadership South Africa 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CPIX Consumer Price Index 

DMTN Domestic Medium Term Note 

DTI Department of Trade and Industry 

EAD Exposure at Default 

ECL Expected Credit Loss/Losses 

FLI Forward Looking Information 

FMR Full Maintenance Rental 

FY Financial Year 

GDP Gross Domestic Product 

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation 

HBA Hollard Business Associates 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IBNR Incurred But Not Reported 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors 

ISA International Standard on Auditing  

JIBAR Johannesburg Interbank Average Rate  

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

LECL Lifetime Expected Credit Loss/Losses 

LGD Loss Given Default 

LGW Loss Given Write off 

NBI National Business Initiative 

OPEX Operating Expenditure 

PAIA Promotion of Access to Information Act No 2 of 2000 

PD Probability of Default 

POPIA Protection of Personal Information Act No 4 of 2013 

PWGD Probability of Write Off Given Default  

SAICA South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 

SARB South African Reserve Bank 

SARS South African Revenue Services 

SHE Safety Health and Environment 

SICR Significant Increase in Credit Risk 

SME Small to Medium Enterprise 

SPPI Solely Payments of Principal and Interest 

TEI The Ethics Institute 

TFSC Toyota Financial Services Corporation 

UNGC United Nations Global Compact 
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Directors' responsibility statement and approval of the consolidated and 
separate annual financial statements 

 

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible 

for the content and integrity of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements and related financial information included 

in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 

of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 

conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditor is engaged to express an independent 

opinion on the consolidated and separate annual financial statements. 

 

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting 

policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

 

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group 

and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Directors to meet these 

responsibilities, the board of Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 

effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 

accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 

throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business 

is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is 

on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully 

eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 

behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

 

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated annual 

financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss. 

 

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s budgets and cash flow forecasts and, in light of the current and anticipated economic 

conditions are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. 

 

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group's consolidated and separate financial 

statements. The consolidated and separate financial statements have been examined by the Group's external auditor and their 

report is presented on pages 16 to 19. 

 

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements set out on pages 20 to 65, which have been prepared on the going 

concern basis, were approved by the board of Directors on 19 July 2019 and were signed on their behalf by: 

 
Approval of financial statements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M.G. Burger      C.N. Hamman 
Chief Executive Officer     Chairman 
19 July 2019      19 July 2019 
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Group Secretary’s Certification 
 
In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the Group has lodged with the 

Commissioner all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act and that all such returns are true, correct 

and up to date. 

 

 
 
 

C. Low 
Company Secretary 
19 July 2019 
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Report of the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 

 

The Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited (‘the Group”) Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee assists 

the Board to fulfil its dual mandate and oversight responsibilities in respect of the financial reporting, internal controls, risk 

management systems, compliance and the internal and external audit functions in respect of Audit, Risk and Compliance on the 

one hand those under section 72 read with regulation 43 in terms of the Social and Ethics on the other hand. 

 

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference through an approved charter, which has during the current year, been 

reviewed and updated in line with regulatory changes. 

 
Composition of the Committee 
 
The Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors and the Chairman of the Board does not serve on the 

Committee. During the current financial year, the Committee comprised A Hedding – Chairman (an independent non-executive 

member), N D B Orleyn (independent non-executive member), N Siyotula (independent non-executive member). 

 

Meetings are attended by representatives of both the internal and external auditors and certain members of management on an 

invitation basis, who provide the Committee with greater insight into specific areas or issues. The auditors have access to all 

records, assets and employees of the Group, as well as to the Chairman of the Committee. 

 

The Chairman has regular contact with management to discuss relevant matters directly. He also meets separately with both 

internal and external audit between meetings. Both internal and external audit have direct access to the Committee, including 

closed sessions without management on any matter they regard as relevant to the fulfilment of the committee’s responsibilities. 

 

The Committee Chairman reports to the Board on Committee activities each quarter and the matters discussed at each meeting, 

highlighting any key items that the committee believes requires action and providing recommendations for their resolution. 

 

Execution of Functions 
 
The Committee has executed its duties and responsibilities during the financial year in accordance with its mandate. 

 
Duties carried out by the Committee 
 
In respect of the external auditors and external audit 
 

- Approved the external auditors’ terms of engagement, the audit plan and fees payable 

- Through the Chairman, approved proposed contracts with the external auditors for the provision of non-audit services 

- Pre-approved any proposed terms of engagement for the provision of non-audit services 

Considered the nature and extent of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors 

- Reviewed the audit process and evaluated the effectiveness of the audit, taking into consideration the results of an 

external audit assessment performed by the Group’s finance function 

- Reviewed any significant audit findings and monitored progress reports on corrective actions required 

- Assessed and obtained assurance from the external auditors that their independence was not impaired in terms of the 

criteria specified by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors as well as the criteria for internal governance 

processes within audit firms 

- Nominated Deloitte & Touche (with Penny Binnie as the designated auditor – 31 March 2019 as the first year of 

appointment). Deloitte & Touche has been the Group’s auditor for 37 years and is a registered auditor who, in the opinion 

of the Committee is independent of the Group as set out in Section 94(8) of the Companies Act.  

- Confirmed that no reportable irregularities were identified and reported by the external auditors in terms of the Auditing 

Profession Act 26 of 2005, and 

- The Committee encouraged effective communication between external and internal audit functions 

 
In respect of Financial Statements 
 

- Confirmed the going concern basis for the preparation of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

- Reviewed the consolidated annual financial statements and recommended them for adoption to the Board 

- Reviewed the Group’s progress during the year on its adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
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Report of the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 

 

- Reviewed the results of the external auditor’s report on the Group’s adoption of IFRS 9 

- Reviewed reports on the adequacy of credit provisions for performing and non-performing loans and impairment tests 

with respect to other assets. Considered feedback from the external auditors 

- Ensured that the consolidated annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Group as at the end 

of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended 

- Considered the accounting treatments of all significant transactions and accounting judgements 

- Considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted 

- Reviewed any significant legal and tax matters that could have material impact on the financial statements 

- Reviewed the Johannesburg Stock Exchange’s (JSE) report on proactive monitoring of financial statements and ensured 

that their recommendations and findings have been considered in the preparation of the current year’s financial 

statements 

- Received and reviewed reports from both internal and external auditors, which included commentary on the effectiveness 

of the internal control environment, systems and processes, and 

- The Committee took cognisance of the key audit matters as reported in the independent auditor’s report. This was done 

by considering the appropriateness of impairments in relation to the risk in the portfolio, as well as reviewing the 

provisioning methodologies and related key judgements adopted in determining the impairment provisions. It also 

reviewed management’s judgements on significant accounting and external reporting issues and confirmed the external 

auditor’s agreement with the treatment thereof. 

 
In respect of internal control and internal audit 
  

- Reviewed and approved the annual internal audit plan and charter 

- Evaluated the independence and effectiveness of the internal audit function 

- Considered the reports of the internal auditors on the Group’s systems of internal control, including effective financial 

controls and maintenance of effective internal control systems 

- Reviewed significant issues raised by internal audit and the adequacy of corrective action taken to remedy the findings 

- Noted there were no significant differences of opinion between internal audit and management 

- Assessed the effectiveness of the internal audit function and the adequacy of available resources and found them to be 

adequate, and 

- Internal audit confirmed to the Committee that based on the results of its work nothing had emerged to indicate material 

weaknesses in the risk management and internal control processes, including internal financial controls. This assessment 

by internal audit formed the basis for the Committee’s recommendation to the Board in this regard. 

 
In respect of legal, regulatory and compliance requirements 
 

- Reviewed the annual compliance mandate and plan 

- Received updates on material legislation affecting the Group and ensured intervention where changes in legislation 

affected the business, and 

- Noted that no complaints were received through the Group’s ethics and fraud hotline concerning accounting matters, 

internal audit, internal financial controls, contents of financial statements, potential violations of the law, and questionable 

accounting or auditing matters. 

 
In respect of risk management and information technology 
 

- Considered reports on risk management including fraud and information technology risks as they pertain to financial 

reporting and the going concern assessment, and 

- Considered updates on key internal and external audit findings in relation to the IT control environment, significant IT 

programs and IT intangible assets. 

 

In respect of the coordination of assurance activities 
 

- Ensured that a combined assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated approach to assurance activities 

- Considered the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function and concluded that these were appropriate, 

and 
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Report of the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 

 

- Considered the experience and expertise of Vice President: Finance, Treasury and IT Strategy and concluded these 

were appropriate. 

 

The Committee has noted the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ announcement of its Mandatory Audit Firm Rotation 

(MAFR) ruling on 2 June 2016 which determined that an audit firm may not be appointed auditor of a public interest entity for more 

than ten years. As a result, the Group will need to rotate its auditor for its 2024 financial year at the latest. 

 

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities and complied with its legal, regulatory and governance 

responsibilities. 

  
Future areas of focus 
 

- Consider management’s plans relating to the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases which has an effective implementation date of 

1 January 2019. The Committee also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosure in the 2019 financial statements 

- Continued focus on ensuring that the internal control environment and financial systems operate effectively and are 

responsive to changes in the environment and industry, and 

- Monitor any non-audit fees paid to external audit to ensure that they are within the prescribed parameters. 

 
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE 
 
Conducting business ethically and protecting against fraud and corruption is an important part of how business earns and 

preserves the trust of its stakeholders. Businesses in South Africa are to some extent exposed to bribery, fraud, corruption and 

other unethical behaviour, and the Group is no exception. As such, we ensure that we conduct our business according to the 

strictest ethical code and do our utmost to create a safe and transparent working environment. 

 
Composition and terms of engagement 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, the Audit and Risk Committee of the Group performs as the duly 

appointed Social and Ethics Committee. Any matters arising at the Group which requires attention are reported via the Committee, 

as indicated in the governance framework. 

 

Since establishment, the Committee was incorporated as part of the broader Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics 

framework. During the year, it was established that the framework was too broad and consumed, in the main, by matters related 

to the audit. To this end, the framework did not adequately address the social and ethics matters. 

 

A recommendation was then made to remove the social and ethics part from the audit, risk and compliance framework, through 

the establishment of a separate Social and Ethics Committee. In preparation of a separate Committee, the Terms of Reference 

were developed. The Terms of Reference were presented and approved by the Board of Directors on 19 July 2019. 

 
For 2019 reporting period, the Committee focused on and monitored activities in respect of the following: 

- B-BBEE 

- Human rights and labour 

- The workplace environment 

- Products and services 

- Environmental safety and protection 

- Market conduct 

- Social environment including the expenditure on donations and charitable giving’s 

- Legislation and codes of good practice, and 

- Ethics, including ethics awareness initiatives. 

 
The Committee will continue to monitor and report on these areas however, greater emphasis will be placed on matters identified 

as material in the following year. 
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Report of the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 

 

B-BBEE Evaluation 
 

Management engaged the services of a South African National Accreditation System (SANAS) approved verification agency to 

perform the assessment in line with the Broad based Black Economic Empowerment Act. The final review has resulted in a Level 

8, based on the new methodology that is aligned to the Financial Sector Code. Management has re-assessed the impact and 

results and will in the next financial year, formulate countermeasures to improve the rating. 

 

Employee Engagement 

 
The Group rolled out the 2019 Employee Satisfaction Survey. The results have been made available to management. Overall, the 

completion rate was satisfactory, and the results presented an engaged environment. Management has undertaken actions to 

focus on 

- Improving trust and communication 

- Ensuring that employees are treated with respect, regardless of title 

- Improving collaboration between departments, and 

- Re-enforcing the Toyota Way principles. 

  

The organisation also runs “staff brief” to appraise employees of the plans for the year ahead while reviewing the achievements 

of the previous financial year. 

 
Wellness 
 
Wellness of the employees and the organisation at large is paramount. Employee wellness days are arranged to remind employees 

about the importance of physical wellbeing. The Employee Assistance Program (Life Assist) is in place and available 24 hours to 

employees and their immediate family members to utilise in times of need for emotional, labour and legal support. 

Wellness has also been extended to financial wellness where plans are afoot to arrange financial wellness for the staff across the 

Group every quarter. 

 
Youth Development 
 
Development of employees including that of youth is done through focused development programs such as individual development 

plans for existing employees. Youth development is done in a form of incorporating unemployed youth into the workplace through 

Learnerships programs and absorption into full time employment after successful completion of the program. There are currently 

13 learners on the Learnership program which runs for a period of 12 months. 

 
Procurement 
 
The Procurement process was reviewed and remediated with the policy being updated in the Financial year. This led to the 

procurement process being centralised to allow for efficient processing and monitoring. 

 
Employment Equity 
 
The monitoring conducted in the Financial year revealed a “Significant Improvement Required” control rating due to the Group not 

having a succession plan in place, however, the process to implement had already started and Human Resources is currently 

busy with individual development plans for all staff. 

 
Business conduct programs 
 
Throughout the year, the Group has rolled out a number of ethics and conduct sessions to sensitize staff to the need to be vigilant 

and compliant. Staff are required to make declarations of interest on a quarterly basis. These are regularly monitored. 

 
Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) 
 
The Group continues to monitor AML activities and have as a result, exited business relationships in the year that were considered 

undesirable to the Group in line with its AML Framework. The Group will, in the new financial year add employee screening to its 

AML processes. 
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Report of the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 

 
Whistle-Blowing and Protected Disclosures 
 
All Group employees are strongly encouraged to report their concerns through the normal business channels, which can include, 

for example, immediate supervisors, human resources representatives, fraud liaison officers, internal audit, or senior management 

representatives. 

 

The Group Hot Line manned by Deloitte, is a supplementary reporting mechanism through which concerns can be raised 

anonymously by employees and other stakeholders. 

 

The Group subscribes to the principles and requirements of the Protected Disclosures Act of 2000 that came into effect on 16 

February 2001 by ensuring protection of employees who submit disclosures in good faith and use the appropriate channels 

provided by the Group. 

 

All tip-offs received in the year were dealt with in terms of the relevant resolution structures within the Group. 

 

The Committee is satisfied that, in accordance with the Group’s memorandum of incorporation, no political donations (whether 

direct or indirect) were made during the year under review. 

  
GDPR Compliance 
 
Management has further reported to the Committee that the assessment of GDPR requirements was performed. In line with those 

requirements. Data sharing agreements were concluded with the Toyota Europe and Africa Region, as well as Toyota South Africa 

Motors (Pty) Ltd. 

 

A further exercise was performed to compare the GDPR requirements with the local Protection of Personal Information Act. A 

framework is currently being developed to ensure monitoring and compliance to both. 

 
Corporate Social Responsibility 
 
The Group participates in the Albert Wessels Trust (formally Toyota Foundation), which looks at programmes in education for the 

previously disadvantaged communities. The participation is through an annual donation in line with the B-BBEE framework. 

 
 
Meeting attendance 
  

 
Thursday, 31 May 

2018 
Wednesday, 22 

August 2018 
Friday, 23 

November 2018 
Tuesday, 26 

February 2019 

A. Hedding Yes Yes Yes Yes 

N.D.B. Orleyn Yes No Yes Yes 

N.  Siyotula No Yes Yes Yes 

 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Committee 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Alan Hedding  
Chairman 
Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee 
 
19 July 2019 
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Directors’ Report 

 
1.   Nature of activities 
 

The Group provides retail and wholesale financing of Toyota, Lexus and Hino products for the Toyota South African dealer 

network and their customers, as well as used vehicles sold through the Toyota dealer network. 

 

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group's business from the prior year. 

 
2.   Changes to Group structure 
 
The Company created a Special Purpose Vehicle (Spartan House 2018 (RF) Ltd) during the course of the year in order to 

diversify its funding sources through an Asset Backed Securitisation. This was done via a private, unrated, unlisted transaction. 

Two classes of notes were issued: 

-  Class A notes for R500m to Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, and 

- Class B notes for R89m issued to the Company. 

 

As a result, loans of R569m were securitised. Due to the ultimate risks and rewards residing with the Company, this SPV is 

consolidated for accounting purposes, with Group results being presented for the first time. Spartan House 2018 (RF) Ltd is 

therefore a subsidiary within the Group. 

 
3.   Results and dividends 
 
The 2019 financial year (FY) was one that was filled with many uncertainties, which, amidst global factors impacting emerging 

markets, resulted in GDP growth being unable to exceed the 1% mark. Global tensions and “own goals” had led to a dip into 

recession during the latter part of 2018, and the effect of this was felt in the motor vehicle industry as well. 

 

The overall vehicle market decreased to 544,202 units (1.3% lower than FY March 2018). Within this market however, Toyota 

has once again produced great results in growing its market share through the sale of 119,905 units (2018: 114,297 units), 

ensuring Toyota retains its market leader position in vehicle sales for the 39th consecutive year. Given the increased 

competition, and subtle change of channels in which vehicles were sold during the year, the Group’s market penetration 

decreased to 27.2% (2018: 30.7%). 

 

The overall performance resulted in an increase in gross revenue of 10.2% (2018: 15.1%) from R4.8 billion to R5.3 billion. Net 

profit before tax increased 4.40% (2018: increase of 18%). A large influencer impacting overall profitability was the change in 

accounting standards over the period (IAS 39 to IFRS 9). IFRS 9 is forward looking and takes into account expected credit 

losses with regards to how impairments are recognised in the portfolio, in comparison to an incurred loss model under IAS 39. 

Further detail on the full effects have been included in the notes to the financial statements. Total assets grew by 5.1% from 

R38.6 billion to R40.6 billion. 

 

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has a total shareholders’ equity of R3.7 billion (2018: R3.4 billion). No dividends were declared 

in the 2019 financial year (2018:R210 million).  

 

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

and consolidated statement of financial position on pages 20 and 21 respectively. 
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Directors’ Report 

 
3.   Results and dividends (continued) 
 

 2019 2018  

 Group Actual  Company Actual Increase / (Decrease) 

Distributor vehicle sales1                          119,905                           114,297  4.91% 

New vehicle contracts written in the year                             32,424  
                            

35,072  -7.55% 

Finance penetration2 27.20% 30.70% -3.50% 

Used vehicle contracts written in the year                             13,308                             15,168  -12.26% 

Total live contracts at year end                          176,043                           176,582  -0.31% 

Impairment of loans and receivables3 3.14% 1.99% 1.15% 

Total assets (R’ million)                             40,616                             38,649  5.09% 

Operating Profit before Other Income (R’ million)                                  748                                  711  5.20% 

Profit before tax (R’ million)                                  748                                  717  4.32% 

Return on Assets4 1.84% 1.85% -0.01% 

Return on Equity5 14.94% 15.72% -0.80% 

Debt to Equity Ratio6 (times)                                   9.8                                 10.3  -4.85% 

OPEX7 1.48% 1.39% 0.09% 

    
 
1 “Distributor vehicle sales” – total new Toyota and Lexus vehicles sold 
2 “Finance penetration” – percentage of new contracts written / distributor vehicles sales 
3 “Impairment of loans and receivables” – impairment against receivables / closing gross loans and receivables 
4 “Return on Assets” – profit before tax / closing total assets 
5 “Return on Equity” – profit after tax / closing equity 
6 “Debt to Equity Ratio” – closing total liabilities / closing equity 
7 “OPEX” – operating costs as a percentage of average total assets 

 
Strategy and review of the business 
 
The Group’s vision is to “Become the most admired motor manufacturer (sales) finance Group in South Africa” by offering 

quality financial products and services aimed at supporting Toyota’s “Customer for life philosophy”, whilst producing acceptable 

levels of return for the shareholders. The Group continues to apply the guiding principles of ‘The Toyota Way’, and has been 

successful in certain areas of the business in reducing costs through the concept of ‘Kaizen’ (continuous improvement). 

 
Future outlook of the business 
 
The Group is in a sound financial and operational position and is confident that its business model will continue to deliver 

growth and maintain profitability. This view is supported by the annual budget. 

 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The Group has the following main areas of financial risk arising from its business activities: 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in market rates. This is managed through the monitoring 

of assets and liabilities, which are sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. The Group also applies interest rate risk management 

via the use of interest rate swap derivative financial instruments, where applicable. 

 
Credit risk 
 
The Group is exposed to significant credit risks, which it manages by authorising credit limits based on client profiles and 

monitoring customer arrear and payment history. 

 
Fair values 
 
The fair value risk is managed by obtaining fair values from quoted market prices and discounted cash flow models.  
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Directors’ Report 

 
Operational risk 
 
The Group’s objective with operational risk management is to embed the process into the day-to-day running of the business 

in a practical manner. This involves continual pro-active identification and understanding of risk factors and events that may 

impact business objectives, development of appropriate response strategies, and continual monitoring and reporting. This is 

done through the implementation of various risk management and governance mechanisms. 

 
Residual value exposure 
 
The Group manages residual value risk through a robust residual value setting process, combined with regular asset 

impairment review meetings, referencing to the latest industry data. The Group has a Residual Value Committee that reviews 

the exposure to possible residual value losses and reports any significant movement or exposures to the Board of Directors 

and the Audit, Risk, Compliance, Social and Ethics Committee. 

 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by employing a number of funding strategies and utilising monitoring tools to ensure 

compliance with Toyota Group wide policy. Diversification of funding sources via short-term and long-term capital markets and 

bank facilities are used to manage borrowing capacity. Capital market activity is further managed by the use of a guarantee 

under a Credit Support Agreement in place with Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands BV. 

  
4.   Going concern 
 
The Group expects to continue its current activities and the Board has no reason to believe that the Group will not be a going 

concern in the year ahead. 

 
5.   Directors and prescribed officers 
 
The following persons (South African unless otherwise stated) were directors of the Group to the date of this report: 
 
 
Directors  Nationality  Designation   Appointment Date 
 
M.G Burger     CEO (Executive)   Appointed 17 April 2000 

C.N. Hamman*     Chairman (Non-Executive)  Appointed 1 July 2013 

C. de Kock     Non-executive   Appointed 28 June 2012 

A.W. Hedding     Non-executive Independent Appointed 21 March 2014 

N.D.B. Orleyn     Non-executive Independent Appointed 21 March 2014 

C.T. Ruben  (German)  Non-executive   Appointed 01 April 2016 

A.P. Kirby     Non-executive   Appointed 01 October 2016 

S.S. Moodley     Non-executive   Appointed 01 February 2017 

N. Siyotula     Non-executive Independent Appointed 08 March 2018 

T.S.C. Manaka     Executive   Appointed 01 January 2019 

A. Gounden     Non-executive   Appointed 28 November 2018 

I.J. Ljubica  (Croatian)  Non-executive   Appointed 1 July 2018 

G. Msibi      Non-executive   Appointed 28 June 2018 

 
*Appointed as chairman effective 20 June 2018 
 
The following individuals resigned as directors of the Group during the year: 

 

M.A. Finlayson     Non-Executive   Resigned 15 May 2018 

H. Watanabe  (Japanese)  Non-Executive   Resigned 31 December 2018 

S. Sugimori  (Japanese)  Executive   Resigned 31 December 2018 

 

 

The following persons (South African unless otherwise stated) were prescribed officers of the Group at the date of this report: 

 

S. Matsui  (Japanese)  Senior Executive Director 

K. Van Zyl     VP: Sales and Marketing 

N. Daya      VP: Finance, Treasury and IT Strategy 
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Directors’ Report 

 
6.   Secretary 
 
The secretary of the Group is C. Low whose business and postal addresses are: 
 
Postal address:     P O Box 650149 

Benmore 

2010 

 

Business address:    4 Merchant Place 

Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road Sandton 

2196 

 
7.   Shareholders 
 
The shareholders of the Group are: 

  

WesInvest Holdings Proprietary Limited*     33.3% 

Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited     33.3% 

Toyota Financial Services (UK) PLC     33.3% 

 

The Group is effectively held 66.7% by Toyota Motor Corporation, Japan. 

 

* WesInvest is ultimately a subsidiary of FirstRand Limited. 

 
8.   Share capital 
 
During the period under review the authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged. 
 
 
9.   Litigation 
 
Management is not aware of any pending or imminent litigation against Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited. 
 
 
10.   Events after the reporting period 
 
 
The Group issued commercial paper TFS160 through Investec Bank on 25 April 2019. The instrument had a nominal value of 

R661 million (1 year duration at 83 basis points above the 3 month JIBAR rate).  

 

The Group issued bonds TFS 161 and TFS 162 through Investec Bank on 27 May 2019. The instruments had a nominal value 

of R94 million (3 year duration at 100 basis points above the 3 month JIBAR rate) and R406 million (5 year duration at 115 

basis points above the 3 month JIBAR rate). 

 

No other material transactions have occurred. 

 

 
11.   Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments 
 
Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments (R’000)1 
 

2019 
Cash 

package 
Retirement 

contribution 
Performance 

related Housing Other2 Total 

Directors 6,881 560 3,533 408 1,659 13,041 

Prescribed officers 4,836 454 2,193 128 2,076 9,687 

 11,717 1,014 5,726 536 3,735 22,728 
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Directors’ Report 

 
11.   Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments (continued) 
 
 

2018 
Cash 
package 

Retirement 
contribution 

Performance 
related Housing Other2 Total 

Directors 5,189 297 2,788 587 2,631 11,492 

Prescribed officers 6,893 731 2,606 - 405 10,635 

 12,082 1,028 5,394 587 3,036 22,127 

 
Notes 

 

All executive directors and prescribed officers have a notice period of one month. 

A prescribed officer is a person who exercises general executive control over management of the whole or a significant portion 

of the business activities of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited. 
1  Refer to Note 32 for more information. 
2 Other include expatriate taxes, travel, medical and leave payouts 

 

12.   Directors' and prescribed officers' interest 

 

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in which Directors or prescribed officers of the Group had an interest. 

 

13.   Auditors 

 

The independent auditors, Deloitte & Touche has indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-

appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. Effective 1 April 2018, Penny Binnie is the designated registered 

auditor, following the conclusion of Vuyelwa Sangoni’s term. The change in audit partner is due to the Companies’ Act 

requirement of a mandatory audit partner rotation every 5 years. 

 

14.   King IV Corporate Governance 

 

Good corporate governance is an integral part of the Group’s sustainability. Adherence to the Standards and recommendations 

set out in the King IV Report and other relevant laws and regulations are vital to achieving our strategic priorities. Corporate 

governance forms an overarching framework in which our business operates and we are committed to promoting good 

governance and ethics within all areas of our business. 

 

To achieve this, the Group continues to enhance and align its governance structures, policies and procedures to support its 

operating environment and strategy. 

 

The King IV Code adopts an outcomes based apply-and-explain principle where a reasonable explanation for non-compliance 

to a principle is required. The Group has adopted the outcomes based apply-and-explain principle for principles with which it 

has not complied and these are published on the Group’s website http://www.toyota.co.za/toyota-finance/corporate-affairs 

(www.toyota.co.za/toyota-finance/corporate-affairs). 

 

15.   JSE Debt Listing Requirements 

 

As required by the JSE Limited (JSE) for companies that issue public debt instruments, the Group has made appropriate 

disclosure as per the requirements of the King IV report on the Group website under the Corporate Governance Section. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited 

 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

 

Opinion  

 

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited (the 

Group) set out on pages 20 to 65 which comprise the statements of financial position at 31 March 2019, and the statements 

of comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

   

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of the Group at 31 March 2019, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the 

Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), 

parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 

(Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits 

of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with 

the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA 

Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Impairment of loans and advances - Transition adjustment and closing balance 

Refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements 

for selected disclosures applicable to this matter. 

 

Loans and advances, which represent 98.75% of total 

assets, and the associated impairment provisions are 

significant in the context of the separate and consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

The Group adopted IFRS 9 (“Financial Instruments”) from 

1 April 2018 which requires impairment losses to be 

evaluated on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis, as 

opposed to incurred losses as was the case under IAS 39 

(“Financial Instruments : Recognition and measurement”). 

The determination of impairment provisions for expected 

losses requires significant judgement, and we have 

identified the audit of ECL impairment provisions to be a 

key audit matter.  

Statistical models are used to calculate the ECL, typically 

made up of probability of default (PD), exposure at default 

(EAD) and loss given default (LGD). The measurement of 

ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time 

value of money and the Group’s best available forward-

looking information.  

Under IFRS 9 loss allowances are measured on one of 

the following bases: 

- Stage 1: 12 month ECLs that result from 

possible default events within the 12 months 

after the reporting date. 

- Stage 2: Lifetime ECLs on exposures with 

significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since 

origination. This ECL is based on all possible 

default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument. 

- Stage 3: Lifetime ECLs on all accounts that are 

considered credit impaired. 

The key areas where we identified greater levels of 

management judgement and therefore increased levels of 

audit focus in the implementation of IFRS 9 are: 

- Compliance of the ECL models with the 

requirement of IFRS 9; 

- Accuracy of the risk parameters (PD, EAD, 

LGD) derived from the model and used to 

determine the ECL; 

- Assessment of SICR and reasonableness of 

criteria adopted including stage allocation; 

- Reasonableness of forward looking information 

used including the probability weighting of the 

multiple economic scenarios; and  

- Completeness and accuracy of post model 

adjustments recorded to mitigate model 

deficiencies, data limitations or other events 

which are not currently captured by the ECL 

models. 

 

 

 

Our response to the key audit matter, we engaged our 

credit specialist. 

  

We performed the following substantive audit procedures 

as part our audit response: 

- To challenge the accuracy of models and related risk 

parameters.  we: 

- performed an assessment of definitions and 

methodologies (at a parameter and ECL 

calculation level); 

- re-performed the IFRS 9 model build at a 

parameter level as well as the assessment of its 

components, e.g. probability of default, loss given 

default, exposure at default, significant increase in 

credit risk; and  

- re-performed the ECL, SICR and stage migration 

calculations. 

- We challenged the reasonability of the probability 

of write off given default (“PWGD”) component in 

the term structure model. 

- We performed an assessment of the impact of allowing 

for the effect of depreciating assets in the loss given 

write off (“LGW”) component in the ECL model. 

- We tested the methodology for deriving the EAD which 

was considered appropriate and tested a sample to 

ensure it was correctly applied. 

-  We built an independent Deloitte ECL model 

(“challenger model”) to facilitate a more controlled audit 

process and to mitigate risk of model change.  

- We challenged the completeness, accuracy and 

validity of qualitative adjustments made to model 

results.  

- We reviewed the accuracy and completeness of the 

related IFRS 9 disclosures.   
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Other Information 

 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, Report of the 

audit, risk, compliance, social and ethics committee and the Company secretary’s certification as required by the Companies 

Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements. The 

other information does not include the consolidated and separate annual financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 

separate annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 

this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate financial statements  

 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 

and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also: 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the 

Company’s internal control.  

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Directors.  

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the 

Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 

the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

  

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Deloitte 

& Touche has been the auditor of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited for 37 years. 

 

 

 
Deloitte & Touche  

Registered Auditor 

Per: Penny Binnie 

Partner  

19 July 2019 
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

 
  Group Company Company 

  2019 2019 2018 

 Note R '000 R '000 R '000 

     

Interest and similar income 4a 5,025,885 5,029,032 4,552,329 

Fee and commission income 4b 281,885 282,773 264,882 

Total revenue  5,307,770 5,311,805 4,817,211 

Interest expense and similar charges 5 (2,862,879) (2,869,951) (2,585,670) 

Fee and commission expense 6 (516,185) (516,185) (487,605) 

Total interest and fee expenses  (3,379,064) (3,386,136) (3,073,275) 

     

Net interest and commission income  1,928,706 1,925,669 1,743,936 

     

Other expenses     

- Other operating expenses 7 (584,718) (584,052) (508,647) 

- Depreciation and amortisation 15 (49,605) (49,605) (106,383) 

- Net impairment of financial assets 13 (546,467) (546,467) (417,724) 

Total other expenses  (1,180,790) (1,180,124) (1,032,754) 

Operating profit before other income  747,916 745,545 711,182 

Other income 8 - - 5,342 

Profit before taxation  747,916 745,545 716,524 

Taxation 9 (188,836) (188,172) (180,641) 

Profit for the year  559,080 557,373 535,883 

Other comprehensive income:  - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  559,080 557,373 535,883 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No Group comparative figures have been presented as these are the first consolidated annual financial statements of the 
Group. 
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Statements of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019 

 

     

  Group  Company Company 

  2019 2019 2018 

 Note R '000 R '000 R '000 
Assets     

Non-Current Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 15 428,593 428,593 582,398 
Intangible assets 16 2,426 2,426 2,299 
Investment in subsidiary 18 - 89,247 - 
Loans and receivables 13 27,923,240 27,923,240 24,369,640 
Other investments 14 21,852 21,852 - 
Deferred tax 19 179,646 179,646 107,610 

  28,555,757 28,645,004 25,061,947 
Current Assets     

Inventories 10 39,208 39,208 - 
Loans and receivables 13 11,737,393 11,737,393 13,216,142 
Trade and other receivables 12 57,208 58,131 62,011 
Receivable from subsidiary 18 - 4,140 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 135,625 49,402 293,677 
Current tax receivable 22 90,378 88,979 15,451 

  12,059,812 11,977,253 13,587,281 
     

Total Assets  40,615,569 40,622,257 38,649,228 
     

Equity and Liabilities     

     
Equity     

Share capital 24 5 5 5 
Share premium 24 644,995 644,995 644,995 
Equity reserves 14 15,733 15,733 - 
Retained Income  3,080,705 3,078,998 2,763,197 

  3,741,438 3,739,731 3,408,197 
Liabilities     

Non-Current Liabilities     

Long term borrowings 21 24,228,000 23,963,000 22,201,000 
Loans from subsidiary 17 - 497,016 - 
Employee benefits liability 23 15,354 15,354 16,816 
Deferred income 30 117,351 117,351 109,557 

  24,360,705 24,592,721 22,327,373 
Current Liabilities     

Long term borrowings 21 10,552,484 10,304,448 11,234,711 
Loans from subsidiary 17 - 25,081 - 
Trade and other payables 20 1,801,132 1,800,466 1,531,215 
Deferred income 30 33,525 33,525 38,439 
Bank overdraft 11 126,285 126,285 109,293 

  12,513,426 12,289,805 12,913,658 
     

Total Liabilities  36,874,131 36,882,526 35,241,031 
     

Total Equity and Liabilities  40,615,569 40,622,257 38,649,228 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No Group comparative figures have been presented as these are the first consolidated annual financial statements of the 
Group.  
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Statements of Changes in Equity 

 

 Notes 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 
Retained 

income 
Equity 

reserves 
Total 

equity 
 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Group       

Balance at 1 April 2018  5 644,995 2,763,197 - 3,408,197 

IFRS 9 Transitional adjustments 3      

ECL Impairment  - - (241,572) - (241,572) 

Fair value of other investments  - - - 15,733 15,733 

Balance at 1 April 2018 as restated  5 644,995 2,521,625 15,733 3,182,358 

Profit for the year  - - 559,080 - 559,080 

Balance at 31 March 2019  5 644,995 3,080,705 15,733 3,741,438 

       

       
       

Company       

Balance at 1 April 2017  5 644,995 2,437,314 - 3,082,314 

Profit for the year  - - 535,883 - 535,883 

Dividends paid  -   (210,000) - (210,000) 

Opening balance as at 1 April 2018  5 644,995 2,763,197 - 3,408,197 

IFRS 9 Transitional adjustments 3      

ECL Impairment  - - (241,572) - (241,572) 

Fair value of other investments  - - - 15,733 15,733 

Balance at 1 April 2018 as restated  5 644,995 2,521,625 15,733 3,182,358 

Profit for the year  - - 557,373 - 557,373 

Balance at 31 March 2019  5 644,995 3,078,998 15,733 3,739,731 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No Group comparative figures have been presented as these are the first consolidated annual financial statements of the 
Group. 
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Statements of Cash Flows 

 
   Group   Company   Company  

  2019 2019 2018 

 Note  R '000   R '000   R '000  
     
Cash flow from operating activities     

Cash utilised by operations 29 (731,796) (735,970) (913,498) 

Interest and similar income 4 5,025,885 5,029,032 4,552,329 

Interest and similar charges  (2,838,010) (2,858,119) (2,559,843) 

Write offs recovered 13 62,657 62,657 50,957 

Dividends paid  - - (210,000) 

Tax paid 22 (247,973) (245,910) (163,143) 

     

Net cash from operating activities  1,270,763 1,251,690 756,802 

     

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 15 & 16 (517,060) (517,060) (646,585) 

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

 543,949 543,949 50,498 

Dividends received  73,800 73,800 72,371 

Increase in gross loans and receivables  (2,879,651) (2,879,651) (3,991,674) 

     

Net cash from investing activities  (2,778,962) (2,778,962) (4,515,390) 

     

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Increase in long term borrowings   11,658,000 11,158,000 9,987,000 

Decrease of long term borrowings and derivative financial 
instruments 

 (10,326,263) (10,326,263) (6,286,253) 

Loan from subsidiary 17 - 522,097 - 

Investment in subsidiary 18 - (89,247) - 

Increase / (decrease) in long term employee benefit liability 23 (1,462) (1,462) 1,027 

Increase in deferred income 30 2,880 2,880 12,388 

     

Net cash from financing activities  1,333,155 1,266,005 3,714,162 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (175,044) (261,267) (44,426) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  184,384 184,384 228,810 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 9,340 (76,883) 184,384 

     

 
 
 
No Group comparative figures have been presented as these are the first consolidated annual financial statements of the 
Group
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Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The Group’s consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Financial 

Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 

issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Debt Listings Requirements, and requirements of the Companies Act, no 

71 of 2008 (Companies Act). 

 

These financial statements comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the 

consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity, 

consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

 

The Group annual financial statements have been prepared to incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the company. This includes Spartan House 2018 (RF) Ltd (subsidiary). No prior year comparatives are presented 

for the Group as the Group was only formed during the current year. 

 

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the 

accounting policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. The financial statements are 

presented in thousands of South African Rand (R'000) which is the Group and Company's functional currency. 

 
2. Accounting policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements are 

set out below. 

 
2.1 Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue comprises the fair value received or receivable for services rendered and is recognised as follows: 
 
2.1.1. Interest Income 
 
The Group recognises interest income in the statement of comprehensive income for all instruments measured at amortised cost. 
The effective interest method allocates the interest income over the average expected life of the financial instruments or portfolios 
of financial instruments. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 
 
2.1.2. Fee and commission income 
 
The Group generally recognises fee and commission income on an accrual basis when the service is rendered. Certain fees and 

transaction costs that form an integral part of amortised cost financial instruments are capitalised and recognised as part of the 

effective yield of the financial instrument over the expected life of the financial instruments. These fees and transaction costs are 

recognised as part of the net interest income.  

 

IFRS 15 
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 

in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An 

entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying the following steps: 

- Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

- Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

- Determine the transaction price 

- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 

- Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
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2.1. Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
2.1.2. Fee and commission income (continued) 
 

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning 1 January 2018. The Group has adopted the standard for the first time 

on 1 April 2018. The Group has identified and reviewed the contracts with customers that are within the scope of this standard. 

The majority of the revenue earned by the Group is from financial instruments and leasing agreements which are governed by 

other standards, therefore the impact is not significant.  

 

2.2 Financial instruments Initial measurement 
 

All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value including transaction costs, except for those classified as fair value 

through profit or loss in which case the transaction costs are expensed upfront in profit or loss, usually as part of operating 

expenses. Any upfront income earned on financial instruments is recognised as detailed under policy 2.1.2, depending on the 

underlying nature of the income. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance is recognised for newly originated financial assets measured 

at amortised cost. 

 

Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition, based on the Group’s business model for 

managing the financial assets. 

 

The Group’s main business models for managing financial assets is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows. The 

business model assessment is not performed on an instrument by instrument basis, but at a level that reflects how groups of 

financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. 

 

The main consideration in determining the different business models across the Group is whether the objectives of the business 

model are met primarily through holding the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, through the sale of these financial 

assets, by managing assets and liabilities on a fair value basis, or through a combination of these activities. 

 

In considering whether the business objective of holding a Group of financial assets is achieved primarily through collecting 

contractual cash flows, amongst other considerations, management monitors the frequency and significance of sales of financial 

assets out of these portfolios for purposes other than managing credit risk. For the purposes of performing the business model 

assessment, the Group only considers a transaction a sale if the asset is derecognised for accounting purposes. 

 

The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 
 
In order for a debt instrument to be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, the cash flows 
on the asset have to be solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), i.e. consistent with those of a basic lending agreement. 
 
The SPPI test is applied on a portfolio basis for retail advances, as the cash flow characteristics of these assets are standardised. 
This includes the consideration of any prepayment penalties that are limited by consumer credit regulation and can therefore be 
considered reasonable compensation which would not cause these assets to fail the SPPI test. 
 
2.2.1. Financial assets 
 
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, and trade and other receivables.  
 
2.2.1.1. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value and are readily convertible 

to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such cash and cash equivalents are 

normally those with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition and include cash and bank overdrafts. Bank 

overdrafts are shown separately on the statement of financial position but included in cash and cash equivalents within the 

statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost. 
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2.2.1.2. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or variable payments that are not quoted in an active  market. 

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition 

and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset (or group of financial assets) and 

of allocating the interest income over the expected life of the asset. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash flows to the instrument’s initial carrying amount. Calculation of the effective interest rate takes in to account 

fees receivable, that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield. All contractual terms of a financial instrument are considered 

when estimating future cash flows. 

 
2.2.1.3. Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables comprise of pre-payments and other receivables. These assets have been designated as originated 

loans and receivables and are measured at amortised cost. 

 
2.2.2. Financial liabilities 
 
The Group’s financial liabilities consists of borrowings, deferred income and trade and other payables. All financial liabilities, other 

than liabilities designated at fair value are measured at amortised cost. 

 
2.2.2.1. Borrowings 
 
Borrowings, including debt are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is adjusted for the amortisation of any transaction 

costs, premiums and discounts. The amortisation is recognised in interest expense using the effective interest method. 

 
2.2.2.2. Trade and other payables 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they 

are extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 
2.2.2.3. Deferred income 
 
Deferred income relates to initiation fees paid at the initiation of the loan and receivable transaction. This is amortised over the life 

of the contract. 

 
2.2.3. Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
The Group has elected to designate other investments not held for trading to be measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. The valuation methodology applied is a discounted cash flow of the future expected cash flows i.e. 

dividends, on a rundown basis including one year of new business. Dividends are discounted from the point of distribution to the 

present time at the risk-free yield curve plus a constant risk margin. Net gains or losses recognised do not include dividend income. 

 

2.3. Impairment of financial assets 
 
Policy prior to 1 April 2018 
 
IAS 39 
 
A financial asset, or portfolio of financial assets, was impaired and an impairment loss recognised if there was objective evidence 

that an event or events since initial recognition of the asset had adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from 

the asset. The Company assessed financial assets for impairment on a monthly basis and at each statement of financial position 

date. 
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2.3. Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
The Company measured the amount of any loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at the effective interest rate of 

the instrument at initial recognition. 

 
Impairment losses were assessed individually for financial assets that were individually significant and individually or collectively 

for assets that were not individually significant. In making a collective assessment of impairment, financial assets were grouped 

into portfolios on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics. Future cash flows from these portfolios were estimated on the basis 

of the contractual cash flows and historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss 

experience was adjusted, on the basis of current observable data, to reflect the effects of current conditions not affecting the 

period of historical experience. 

 

Impairment losses were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and the carrying amount of the financial asset or 

group of financial assets was reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. 

 

If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss reduced and the reduction could be ascribed to an event after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised loss was reversed by adjusting the allowance. Interest income continued 

to be recognised on the adjusted carrying amount, using the original effective interest rate, after an impairment loss had been 

recognised on a financial asset or group of financial assets. 

 
This policy applied to: 

- financial assets measured at amortised cost including financial accounts receivable and cash; 

- debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income; 

- loan commitments 

- financial guarantees; and 

- finance lease debtors where Group is the lessor  

 
Credit impairment losses and advances 

 

The Company assessed its credit portfolio for impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should 

be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Company made judgements as to whether there was observable data 

indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans. For the purpose of these judgements 

the credit portfolio was split into two parts: Performing loans and Non-performing loans. 

 
Performing loans 
 
(1) The first part consisted of the portion of the performing portfolio where there was objective evidence of the occurrence of an 

impairment event. In the portfolio, the account status, namely arrears versus non-arrears status was taken as a primary indicator 

of an impairment event. A portfolio impairment calculation was made to reflect the decrease in estimated future cash flows for this 

sub segment of the performing portfolio. The decrease in future cash flows was primarily estimated based on an analysis of 

historical loss and recovery rates for comparable sub segments of the portfolio. 

 

(2)The second part consisted of the portion of the performing portfolio where an incurred impairment event was inherent in a 

portfolio of performing advances but has not been specifically identified. An incurred-but-not-reported (IBNR) impairment was 

calculated on this sub segment of the portfolio, based on historical analysis of loss ratios, roll-rates from performing status into 

non-performing status and similar risk indicators over the estimated loss emergence period. Estimates of roll-rates, loss ratios and 

similar risk indicators were based on analysis of internal and, where appropriate, external data. Estimates of the loss emergence 

period were made in the context of the nature and frequency of credit assessments performed, availability and frequency of 

updated data regarding customer creditworthiness and similar factors. 

 

Non-performing loans  

 

These loans were impaired based on their classification status and specific assessment of the likelihood to repay. Management’s 

estimates of future cash flows on individually impaired loans were based on internal historical loss experience. The methodology  
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2.3. Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows were reviewed regularly to reduce any 

differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

 
 
Policy post 1 April 2018 
 
IFRS 9 
 
The Group adopted IFRS 9 in the current year. The following resulted from the implementation: 

- the classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is based on both the business model for holding the instruments as 

well as the contractual characteristics of the instruments 

- impairments in terms of IFRS 9 are determined based on an expected loss model that considers the significant changes 

to the assets' credit risk and the expected loss that will arise in the event of default 

- the requirements for the classification of liabilities remained unchanged 

- IFRS 7 has been amended to include additional disclosures as a result of the introduction of IFRS 9, and 

- IFRS 9 establishes a three-stage approach for impairment of financial assets. 

- Stage 1: at initial recognition of a financial asset, the asset is classified as Stage 1 and 12-month expected credit 

losses are recognised, which are credit losses related to default events expected to occur within the next 12 months.  

- Stage 2: if the asset has experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (SICR), the asset is 

classified as Stage 2 and lifetime expected credit losses are recognised. 

- Stage 3: non-performing assets are classified as Stage 3, with expected credit losses measured and recognised on 

a lifetime basis.  
 

The Group continuously assesses its credit portfolios for impairment. Advances are monitored by the credit committee and 

impaired according to the Group's impairment policy. 

 

The objective of the measurement of an impairment loss is to produce a quantitative measure of the Group’s credit risk exposure. 

In determining the amount of the impairment, the Group considers the following: 

- the Probability of Default (PD) which is a measure of the expectation of how likely the customer is to default 

- the Exposure at Default (EAD) which is the expected amount outstanding at the point of default, and 

- the Loss Given Default (LGD) which is the expected loss that will be realised at default after taking into account recoveries 

through collateral and guarantees. 

 

These parameters are estimated using statistical models that predict future cash flows on the basis of historical behaviour for 

similar exposures over equivalent measurement periods. Adjustments to statistical estimates are made to allow for current 

conditions that were not present in the historical data referenced, and to allow for the impact of forward-looking macro- economic 

forecasts. 

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
Advances are considered credit impaired if they meet the definition of default. The Group’s definition of default applied for 

calculating provisions under IFRS 9 has been aligned to the definition applied for banking industry capital calculations across all 

portfolios, as well as those applied in operational management of credit and for internal risk management purposes. Exposures 

are considered to be in default when they are more than 90 days past due or, in the case of amortising products, more than 3 

unpaid instalments. In addition, an exposure is considered to have defaulted when there are qualitative indicators that the borrower 

is unlikely to pay their credit obligations in full without any recourse by the Group to actions such as the realisation of security.  

 

A default event is considered to be a separate default event only if an account has met the portfolio-specific cure definition prior 

to the second or subsequent default. Default events that are not separate are treated as a single default event when developing 

LGD term structures. 

 

Indicators of unlikeliness to pay are determined based on the requirements of Regulation 67 of the Banks Act. Any distressed 

restructures of accounts which have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are defined as default 

events. Accounts are considered to no longer be in default if they meet the stringent cure definition, which has been determined 

at portfolio level.  
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2.3. Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable 

data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans. 

 

Collective impairment assessments of groups of financial assets 
 
Within data-rich portfolios, impairment parameters are estimated using statistical analysis performed on homogeneous groups of 

accounts. Accounts are grouped at a portfolio level at a minimum, but more granular groupings are applied where specific sub- 

segments of the portfolio are expected to behave differently and where sufficient data is available for more granular modelling to 

be performed. 

 

Regression modelling techniques are used to determine which borrower and transaction characteristics are predictive of certain 

behaviours, based on relationships observed in historical data related to the group of accounts to which the model will be applied. 

This results in the production of models that are used to predict impairment parameters (PD, LGD, and EAD) based on the 

predictive characteristics identified through the regression process. 

 

When impairments are calculated, each exposure is assigned unique impairment parameters (a PD, LGD and EAD) based on that 

exposure’s individual characteristics. These account-level impairment parameters are then used to calculate account-level 

expected credit losses. 

 
Forward-looking information 
 
Forward-looking macro-economic information has been incorporated into expected loss estimates through the application of 

quantitative modelling and expert-judgement-based adjustments. Quantitative techniques applied estimate the impact of 

forecasted macro-economic factors on expected credit losses using regression techniques. 

 

Macro-economic factors are forecast by a forum of external economists who are independent from the Group’s credit and 

modelling functions. 

 

Economic variables are forecast for different scenarios (downside, upside and core) and a probability is assigned to each scenario. 

The scenarios and associated probabilities are then approved at Group management before being provided to the credit modelling 

teams for incorporation into quantitative models. 

 

The forecast horizon incorporated into models is 3 years, since the accuracy of macro-economic forecasts beyond this point is not 

considered sufficient for their inclusion in impairment estimates. For portfolios with remaining lifetimes of longer than 3 years, 

mean reversion is assumed beyond this point. 

 

For material portfolios where, expected credit losses are influenced by economic cycles, the estimated impact of multiple macro- 

economic scenarios and their probabilities is considered. ECL is calculated for the core (best-estimate) scenario, an upside 

scenario and a downside scenario. The probability-weighted average of the ECL figures calculated under each of these scenarios 

is the final ECL figure for the portfolio. Calculation of a probability-weighted ECL estimate across multiple macro- economic 

scenarios ensures appropriate treatment of non-linear macro-economic impacts. 

 

The stage classification of an account for disclosure purposes is determined by calculating the probability-weighted forward- 

looking reporting date PD for that exposure and using this PD to determine whether an account has experienced a significant 

increase in credit risk and should therefore be moved into Stage 2. Accounts that have not experienced a significant increase in 

credit risk will remain in Stage 1. 

 

Where credit experts have determined that the three macro-economic scenarios catered for through the quantitative modelling 

process are not adequately reflective of potential macro-economic event risk, expert judgement-based adjustments are made to 

staging and/or ECL estimates to better reflect potential portfolio-specific impacts. 

 

In addition to forward-looking macro-economic information, other types of forward-looking information, such as specific event risk 

is taken into account in ECL estimates when required through the application of out-of-model adjustments. 
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2.3. Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
Measurement of the 12-month and LECL Loans and receivables 
 
Parameters are determined on a pooled basis, with exposures pooled on a portfolio level at a minimum. Where appropriate, more 

granular pooling is applied. The inputs used to determine parameter values include historically observed behaviour as well as 

behavioural and demographic information related to individual exposures currently on book. 

 

PD parameters are determined through assessment of the influence that various risk drivers have had on historical default rates. 

 
EAD parameters are estimated based on product characteristics and historical draw-down and payment behaviour. LGDs are 

determined by estimating expected future cash flows, including costs and proceeds from sale of collateral, based on historically 

observed outcomes. 

 

The statistical models applied implicitly assume that risk drivers that influence default risk, payment behaviour and recovery 

expectations within the historical data will continue to be relevant in the future. Parameters are calibrated for the calculation of 12-

month and LECL using term structures that consider account age, historical behaviour, transaction characteristics and correlations 

between parameters. 

 

Term structures have been developed over the entire remaining lifetime of an instrument. Expected credit losses on open accounts 

are discounted from the expected date of default to the reporting date using the asset’s original effective interest rate or a 

reasonable approximation thereof. 

 
Wholesale 
 
Parameters are determined based on the application of statistical models that produce estimates on the basis of counterparty- 
specific financial information and transaction characteristics including the nature of available collateral. Due to the specialised 
nature of these exposures, parameters produced by models are taken through a robust review and challenge process before 
being applied to calculate expected credit losses and are required to be signed off by a committee of Wholesale credit experts.  
 
Parameters are calibrated for the calculation of 12-month and LECL using term structures that consider account age, historical 

behaviour, transaction characteristics and correlations between parameters. Term structures have been developed over the entire 

remaining lifetime of an instrument. Expected credit losses on open accounts are discounted from the expected date of default to 

the reporting date using the asset’s original effective interest rate or a reasonable approximation thereof. 

 
Determination of whether the credit risk of financial instruments have increased significantly since initial recognition 
 
In order to determine whether an advance has experienced a significant increase in credit risk, the PD of the asset calculated at 

the origination date is compared to that calculated at the reporting date. An asset is flagged as having experienced an increase in 

credit risk if the estimated lifetime probability of default at the reporting date is higher than the corresponding probability of default 

from the date of origination. The origination date is defined to be the most recent date at which the Group had an opportunity to 

price or re-price the advance based on the outcome of either the original or an up-to-date risk assessment. SICR test thresholds 

are re-assessed and, if necessary, updated, on at least an annual basis. 

 
Any facility that is more than 30 days past due, or in the case of instalment-based products one instalment past due, is 

automatically considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. 

 

In addition to the quantitative assessment based on PDs, qualitative considerations are applied when determining whether 

individual exposures have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. One such qualitative consideration is the appearance 

of wholesale and commercial SME facilities on a credit watch list. 

 

Any up-to-date facility that has undergone a distressed restructure (i.e. a modification of contractual cash flows to prevent a client 

from going into arrears) will be considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. 

 

The credit risk on an exposure is no longer considered to be significantly higher than at origination if no qualitative indicators of a 

significant increase in credit risk are triggered, and if comparison of the reporting date PD to the origination date PD no longer 

indicates that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. No minimum period for transition from Stage 2 back to Stage 1  is 

applied. A 12-month curing definition is applied to Stage 3, therefore an account has to be performing for 12 consecutive months  
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2.3. Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

before it can be disclosed in Stage 1 or 2. With regards to distressed restructured accounts, these are required to remain in Stage 

2 for a minimum period of 6 months before re-entering Stage 1, as per the requirements of SARB Directive 7 of 2015. 

 

The PDs used to perform the test for a significant increase in credit risk are calculated by applying the PD model in force as at the 

reporting date. This model is retro-applied using data as at the origination date to determine origination date PDs. 

Origination date PDs are measured at initial recognition of an instrument, unless there has been a subsequent risk-based re- 

pricing opportunity. Where the models used to determine PDs cannot discriminate good credit risks from bad credit risks effectively 

at initial recognition due to a lack of behavioural information, proxy origination dates of up to 6 months post initial recognition are 

applied. Where proxy origination dates are applied, early qualitative indicators of significant increase in credit risk, such as 

fraudulent account activity or partial arrears, are applied to trigger movement into Stage 2. 

 

Reporting date PDs are calculated on a forward-looking basis, with PDs adjusted where appropriate to incorporate the impacts of 

multiple forward-looking macro-economic scenarios. 

 
Write offs 
 
Write-off must occur when it is not economical to pursue further recoveries i.e. there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 

the carrying amount of the asset (gross amount less specific impairments raised): 

- by implication, in both retail and wholesale, write-offs cannot occur if there is evidence of recent payment behaviour. 

Each credit portfolio has articulated a write-off policy that aligns with the principles of IFRS 9 while taking the business 

context of that portfolio into account 

- within Retail portfolios, write-off definitions have been determined with reference to analysis of the materiality of post 

write-off recoveries, and 

- within Wholesale portfolios, a judgmental approach to write-off is followed, based on case-by-case assessment by a 

credit committee. 

 

Partial write-offs are not performed within credit portfolios. Where required, additional provisions against irrecoverable assets will 

be raised until such a time as final write-off can occur. 

 

For a retail account to cure from Stage 3 back to either Stage 2 or Stage 1, the account needs to meet a stringent cure definition. 
Cure definitions are determined on a portfolio level with reference to suitable analysis and are set such that the probability of a 
previously cured account re-defaulting is equivalent to the probability of default for an account that has not defaulted in the past. 
For wholesale exposures, cures are assessed on a case by case basis, subsequent to an analysis by the relevant debt 
restructuring credit committee. 
 

Other financial assets 
 
All physical cash is classified as Stage 1. Other exposures are classified as Stage 1 unless specific evidence of impairment exists, 

in which case these assets are classified as Stage 3.ECL for physical cash is zero. ECL for cash equivalents is calculated using 

the loss rate approach. ECL for trade and other receivables is calculated using the loss rate approach. This results in LECL being 

recognised. 
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Transfers, modifications and derecognition 
 
Financial instruments are derecognised when: 

- the contractual rights or obligations expire or are extinguished, discharged or cancelled, for example an outright sale or 

settlement 

- they are transferred and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met, or 

- the contractual terms of the instrument are substantially modified and the derecognition criteria of IFRS 9 are met. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the Group has either transferred the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset 

or it has assumed an obligation to pay over all the cash flows from the asset to another entity (i.e. pass through arrangement 

under IFRS 9). 

 

If the contractual cash flows of a financial asset measured at amortised cost are modified (changed or restructured, including 

distressed restructures), the Group determines whether this is a substantial modification, following which, results in the 

derecognition of the existing asset, and the recognition of a new asset, or whether the change is simply a non- substantial 

modification of the existing terms which does not result in derecognition. 

 

A modification of a financial asset is substantial, and thus results in derecognition of the original financial asset, where the modified 

contractual terms are repriced to reflect current conditions on the date of modification and are not merely an attempt to recover 

outstanding amounts. Where the modification does not result in an accounting derecognition the original asset continues to be 

recognised. 

 

The following transactions are entered into by the Group in the normal course of business in terms of which it transfers financial 

assets directly to third parties or structured entities, or modifies the contractual terms of the asset and either achieves derecognition 

or continues to recognise the asset: 

  

Traditional securitisations and conduit programmes i.e. non-recourse transactions 
 
Specific advances or investment securities are transferred to a structured entity, which then issues liabilities to third party investors, 

for example variable rate notes or investment grade commercial paper. The Group's obligations toward the third party note holders 

is limited to the cash flows received on the underlying securitised advances or non-recourse investment securities i.e. the note 

holders only have a claim to the ring-fenced assets in the structured entity, and not to other assets of the Group. 

The Group consolidates these securitisation and conduit vehicles as structured entities, in terms of IFRS 10. 

 

The transferred assets continue to be recognised by the Group in full. Such advances and investment securities are disclosed 

separately in the relevant notes. The Group recognises an associated liability for the obligation toward third party note holders as 

a separate category of deposits. These deposits are usually measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Modifications without derecognition 
 
Modified contractual terms are not priced to reflect current conditions and are thus not substantial. For retail advances, this includes 

debt restructuring accounts where the new terms of the contract (such as a lower interest rate) is mandated by law and do not 

have the same commercial terms as a new product that the Group would be willing to offer a customer with a similar risk profile. 

The same principle is applied for wholesale advances on a case-by-case basis. 

 

The existing asset is not derecognised. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset is recalculated as the present value of 

the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the renegotiated or modified financial asset, discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The gain or loss on modification is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle 

the liability simultaneously. 
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2.4       Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount 

is defined as the lower of ‘value in use’ and ‘fair value less cost to sell’. At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there 

is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

The impairment losses are included in other operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses 

are reversed when an increase in the financial assets recoverable amount can be objectively traced to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date after the 

impairment is reversed, should not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 

The reversal of the impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. Property, plant and 

equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstance which indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. 

 

2.5. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation/ accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major 

components having different useful lives, they are accounted for separately. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 

reviewed annually and adjusted if necessary. Gains and losses on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment are 

determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in operating expenses in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 

Depreciation and amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on the straight-line method so as to write off 

the depreciable amount of property, plant and equipment and amortised intangible asset over the estimated useful life of the 

assets as follows: 

 

Item      Depreciation method Average useful life 

Office furniture & equipment   Straight line  4 to 10 years 

FMR motor vehicles    Straight line  Over the contract period 

Computer software    Straight line  3 years 

 

2.6. Finance leases, operating leases, and rentals 
 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 

classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

Contracts to lease assets are classified as finance leases if they transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to the customer. All other contracts to lease assets are classified as operating leases or rentals. 

 

Finance leases include amounts advanced to customers related to assets purchased under conditional sales agreements (retail 

finance contracts) and assets leased under finance lease. Finance lease receivables are stated in the statement of financial 

position at the amount of the net investment in the lease, being the minimum lease payments and any unguaranteed residual 

value discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to give a 

constant periodic rate of return before tax on the net investment. 

 

Operating leases relate predominantly to the occupational lease of the Company’s premises at 15 Spartan Crescent, Marlboro for 

a rental period of 5 years with an escalation clause that approximates CPIX as defined. Operating leases are recognised on a 

straight line basis over the lease term 

 
2.7. Provisions and contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 

statement of financial position date, which is the amount that the Company would rationally pay to settle the obligation at the 

statement of financial position date or to transfer it to a third party at that time. 
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2.7. Provisions and contingencies (continued) 
 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 

2.8. Tax 
 
2.8.1. Current tax assets and liabilities 
 
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of 

current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. 

 

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 

from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. 

 

2.8.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 

profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction and affects neither accounting 

profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. 

 
2.9. Employee benefits Post-employment benefits 
 
The Group provides employee retirement benefits in the form of defined contribution plans. 

Under the defined contribution plan, the Group recognises the contribution paid to a fund when an employee has rendered service 

in exchange for those contributions. 

 

The Group operates post-employment medical aid schemes (defined benefit), with membership limited to employees who were 

retired and / or in the employment of WesBank at specified dates and transferred to the Group. For past service, the Group 

recognises and provides for the actuarially determined present value of post-employment medical aid employer contributions using 

the projected unit credit method. Independent qualified actuaries carry out annual valuations of these obligations. Unrecognised 

actuarial gains or losses are accounted for over a period not exceeding the remaining working life of active employees. Actuarial 

gains or losses in respect of vested benefits of retired employees are recognised immediately in Other Comprehensive Income. 

 
2.10. Inventories 
 
Inventories comprise of Full Maintenance Rental (FMR) vehicles. FMR contracts range from 1 - 5 years. At the end of the contract 

term, vehicles are disposed of. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value 

 
 
2.11. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other  
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2.11. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 
 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Unless stated 

otherwise the judgements applied by management in applying the accounting policies are consistent with the prior year. 

Included below are all the critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements made by the Group, except those related 

to fair value measurement which are included in note 25. 

 
2.11.1. Subsidiaries 
 
Only one party can have control over a subsidiary. In determining whether the Group has control over an entity, consideration is 

given to any rights the Group has that result in the ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee, and the Group’s exposure 

to variable returns. 

 

In operating entities shareholding is most often the clearest indication of control. However, for structured entities, judgement is 

often needed to determine which investors have control of the entity.  

 
Decision making power 
 
Some of the major factors considered by the Group in making this determination include the following: 

- The purpose and design of the entity; 

- What the relevant activities of the entity are; 

- Whether the Group is exposed to any downside risk or upside potential that the entity was designed to create 

- To what extent the Group is involved in the setup of the entity, and 

- To what extent the Group is responsible to ensure that the entity operates as intended. 

  

2.11.2. Impairment of financial assets 
 
The extent of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated using complex models and 
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour. Further significant judgements are necessary in 
applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 

- Determining criteria for SICR 
ECL is measured as an allowance equal to a 12-month ECL for Stage 1 assets, or a lifetime ECL for Stage 2 or Stage 
3 assets. An asset moves to Stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition and to Stage 
3 when it becomes non-performing, which includes accounts in business rescue, debt review, liquidation and 
sequestration 

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL: 
Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining the 
assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk; and 

- Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward looking scenarios. 
 

 
2.11.3. Vehicle residual value 
 
The Company manages residual value risk through a robust residual value setting process combined with regular asset impairment 

reviews, referencing to industry data available and taking the useful life of the asset into consideration. Deferred tax may arise on 

temporary differences between the tax base and the carrying amount of the asset. 
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2.12. New Standards and Interpretations 
 
2.12.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective 
 
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 

mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019 or later periods: 

 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17 Leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main 

changes arising from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the Group are as follows: 

Group as lessor: 

- Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar to the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are classified as either finance 

leases or operating leases. Lease classification is reassessed only if there has been a modification. 

- A modification is required to be accounted for as a separate lease if it both increases the scope of the lease by adding 

the right to use one or more underlying assets; and the increase in consideration is commensurate to the stand alone 

price of the increase in scope. 

- If a finance lease is modified, and the modification would not qualify as a separate lease, but the lease would have been 

an operating lease if the modification was in effect from inception, then the modification is accounted for as a separate 

lease. In addition, the carrying amount of the underlying asset shall be measured as the net investment in the lease 

immediately before the effective date of the modification. IFRS 9 is applied to all other modifications not required to be 

treated as a separate lease. 

- Modifications to operating leases are required to be accounted for as new leases from the effective date of the 

modification. Changes have also been made to the disclosure requirements of leases in the lessor's financial statements. 

 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 

leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.  

 

The Directors have assessed its assets, liabilities and contractual lease obligations against the classification and measurement 

criteria of IFRS 16. The transitional impact will result in the recognition of right of use assets and associated liabilities. Directors 

do not anticipate this having a significant impact on the Group. 

 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 

 
IFRS 17 is the new standard that deals with the accounting for insurance contracts and will replace IFRS 4. IFRS 4 currently 
contains no requirements to account for insurance contracts in a specific way. The accounting treatment differs between different 
jurisdictions, which make it very difficult to compare one insurance company to another. IFRS 17 contains specific requirements 
and aims to provide more transparency and comparability between insurance companies and other industries. IFRS 17 provides 
a prescriptive approach on determining policyholder liabilities as well as the release of profit in these contracts to the income 
statement. The new IFRS 17 standard is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 
 
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact that IFRS 17 will have on the Group’s insurance business. Until the process 
has been completed, the group is unable to determine the significance of the impact. 
 
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group in the 
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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3. Changes in accounting policy 
 

Application of IFRS 9 Financial instruments 
 
In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in July 2014) and the related consequential 

amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments and introduces new requirements for 1) the 

classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) impairment for financial assets and 3) general hedge 

accounting. Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on the Group's financial statements are described below. 

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9. 

 

The tables below show the amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item affected by the application of IFRS 9 
for the current and prior year. 
 
 

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at 1 April 2018 
 

Group and Company 

 Note 
 Opening balance 

under IAS 39 
R’000  

 IFRS 9 initial 
application 

R’000  

 Opening balance 
under IFRS 9 

R’000  

 Assets      

 Property, plant and equipment  15                     582,398  -                     582,398  

 Intangible assets  16                          2,299  -                          2,299  

 Investment in subsidiary 18 - - - 

 Gross loans and advances  13                38,350,094  -                38,350,094  

 Allowance for impairments  13                    (764,312)                    (335,517)                (1,099,829) 

 Other investments 14 - 21,852 21,852 

 Deferred tax   19                     107,610                         87,826                      195,436  

 Inventories 10 - - - 

 Trade and other receivables  12                        62,011  -                        62,011  

 Receivable from subsidiary 18 - - - 

 Cash and cash equivalents  11                     293,677  -                     293,677  

 Current tax receivable  22                        15,451  -                        15,451  
     

 Equity      
 Share capital  24                               (5) -                                (5) 
 Share premium  24                    (644,995) -                    (644,995) 
 Equity reserves  14                                 -                         (15,733)                      (15,733) 
 Retained income                  (2,763,197)                     241,572                 (2,521,625) 

     
 Liabilities      

 Long term borrowings  21              (33,435,711) -              (33,435,711) 

 Loans from subsidiary  - - - 

 Employee benefits liability  23                      (16,816) -                      (16,816) 

 Trade and other payables  20                (1,531,215) -                (1,531,215) 

 Deferred income  30                    (147,996) -                    (147,996) 

 Bank overdraft  11                    (109,293) -                    (109,293) 
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4. Total Revenue 
 

  Group   Company   Company  
 
 2019 2019 2018 

 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 

a. Finance charges earned     

 - Retail lease              106,176               106,176                  80,203  

 - Retail finance            4,522,944            4,522,944            4,115,211  

 - Wholesale               198,552               198,552               183,531  

 - Interest on intercompany loan  -  4,140 - 

 - Interest on bank accounts   993 - - 

     

Non-interest income     

- Operating lease instalments              107,554               107,554                  89,729  

     

 Documentation fees      

 - Retail lease                       401                       401                       450  

 - Retail finance                 89,265                  89,265                  83,205  

     

 Total interest and similar income           5,025,885            5,029,032            4,552,329  

     

b. Fee and commission income     

     

Loans and receivables fee income  185,870 185,870 167,692 

Insurance sales commission income  16,749 16,749 13,886 

Dividend income  73,800 73,800 72,371 

Operating lease fee income  5,466 5,466 5,177 

Servicer fee recovered from subsidiary  - 888 - 

Other  - - 5,756 

     

Total fee and commission income  281,885 282,773 264,882 

 
 
 
5. Interest expense 
 
 

 Interest on financial liabilities by class:   
   

 - Interest expense - Bank loans *              2,301,595             2,301,595             2,106,704  

 - Interest expense - Interest related fees *                    17,154                   17,289                   13,852  

 - Interest expense - Domestic Medium Term Note *                 461,607                461,607                382,772  

 - Interest expense - Commercial paper *                    69,487                   69,487                   77,999  

 - Interest expense - Derivative financial instruments **                             -                              -                       4,343  

 - Interest expense - Subsidiary*                             -                     19,973                            -    

 - Interest expense – Asset backed securitisation*                    13,036                            -                              -    

     

 Total interest on financial liabilities              2,862,879             2,869,951             2,585,670  

 
* Denotes interest on financial liabilities held at amortised cost 
** Denotes interest on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss 
 
 
6. Fee and commissions expense 
 

Commission and incentive expense  
   

 - Retail lease   5,983  5,983  3,608 

 - Retail finance   510,202  510,202  480,338 

Total commission and incentive expense                516,185                516,185  483,946 
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6. Fee and commissions expense (continued) 
  

 Group   Company   Company  

  2019 2019 2018 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 

Management fee paid to WesBank:  
   

 - Retail finance   - - 3,659 

Total related fee expense  - - 3,659 

     

     

Total fee and commission expense                516,185                516,185            487,605  

 
 
 
7. Other operating expenses 
 
 

Auditor remuneration: Fee                     6,948                     6,698                     3,736  

Auditor remuneration: Other services                           66                           66  65                         
65  Management fee paid to WesBank: Operating expense related                287,619                287,619                271,689  

Operating lease rentals                     5,445                     5,445                     4,062  

Professional fees                   29,300                   28,884                   19,002  

Staff and pension costs                146,800                146,800                138,999  

Defined contribution plan expense  9,160 9,160 8,694 

Operating expenses                99,380                99,380                   62,335  

     

 Total other operating expenses  584,718  584,052  508,647 

 
8. Other income 
 
Other income includes fair value movements 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss  
   

 - Fair value of swap interest   - - 5,342 

Total other income  - - 5,342 

 
 
9. Taxation 
 

Components of the tax expense       
 

    
 Current      
 Local income tax – current period                 173,046                172,382                144,703  

     
 Deferred      
 Originating and reversing temporary differences – current period 

 
                 15,790                   15,790                   35,938  

 
               188,836                188,172                180,641  

 

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense   
   

 
 

   

 Accounting profit                 747,916                745,545            716,524  
     

 Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2018: 28%)    209,416 208,752 200,681 

 Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income:   
   

 SPV non-claimable expenses*   84 84 - 

 Insurance dividends   (20,664) (20,664) (20,040) 
 

 188,836 188,172 180,641 

     

*SPV non-claimable expenses relate to legal and arranging fees that cannot be deducted as these expenses cannot be directly 
attributed to taxable income. 
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10. Inventories 

 
 

Group 
2019 

Company 
2019 

Company 
2018 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 

 

Inventories   39,208 39,208                 - 

 
Inventories relate to FMR vehicles out of contract. The Group had an increase of Inventory at year end, due to a significant number 
of contracts terminating close to 31 March 2019. Inventories are held at net realisable value. No inventories are held as security 
for loans or liabilities. 
 
 
11. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Cash and bank balances   135,625 49,402 293,677 

Bank overdraft   (126,285) (126,285) (109,293) 

Total cash and cash equivalents  9,340 (76,883) 184,384 

 
 
Overdrafts are payable on demand and are unsecured. The average interest rate is 7.65%. Directors consider the carrying 
amounts of cash and cash equivalents to approximate fair value. 
 
 
12. Trade and other receivables 
 

Trade receivables   44,217 44,217 62,011 

VAT receivable*  12,991 13,026 - 

Servicer fees  - 888 - 

Total trade and other receivables  57,208 58,131 62,011 

 
*VAT receivable has been reclassified in the current financial year from trade and other payables to trade and other receivables 
to better reflect the nature. Prior year VAT receivable has not been reclassified as the amount is considered to be immaterial. 
 
Directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables to approximate fair value. 
 
13. Loans and receivables 
 
Group and Company 
     
 Gross loans and receivables     
 Retail lease   976,062 976,062 918,984 

 Retail finance   36,208,664 36,208,664 33,978,298 

 Wholesale   3,760,453 3,760,453 3,452,812 

   40,945,179 40,945,179 38,350,094      
 Impairments against gross loans and receivables     
 Retail lease   (15,345) (15,345) (8,585) 
 Retail finance   (1,255,597) (1,255,597) (691,664) 
 Wholesale   (13,604) (13,604) (64,063) 
  (1,284,546) (1,284,546) (764,312) 
          
 Net loans and receivables      
 Retail lease   960,717 960,717 910,399 
 Retail finance   34,953,067 34,953,067 33,286,634 
 Wholesale   3,746,849 3,746,849 3,388,749 
  39,660,633 39,660,633 37,585,782 

Maturity analysis     
 – Due within one year   11,737,393 11,737,393 13,216,142 
 – Due between one and five years   25,848,925 25,848,925 21,418,785 
 – Due after five years   2,074,315 2,074,315 2,950,855 
  39,660,633 39,660,633 37,585,782 
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13. Loans and receivables (continued)   Group   Company   Company  
  2019 2019 2018 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 

 Split between non-current and current portions      

 Non current assets                       
27,923,240  

                    27,923,240  24,369,640 

 Current assets   11,737,393 11,737,393 13,216,142 

  39,660,633 39,660,633 37,585,782 

 
The average term of loans and receivables entered into is 67 months (2018: 66 months). Contractual interest rates vary from a 
fixed interest rate for a set period to a variable interest rate. The weighted average interest rate in respect of loans and receivables 
at 31 March 2019 was 13.3% (2018: 13.2%). Refer to note 25 for the split between performing loans and non- performing loans. 
 
13.1. Reconciliation of gross loans and receivables 
 

2019 Group and Company   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  Total  
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

      

Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   30,734,570 5,410,174 1,441,038 37,585,782 

Transfer to Stage 2   (1,605,740) 1,752,775 (147,035) - 

Transfer to Stage 3   (538,514) (747,601) 1,286,115 - 

Write offs   - - (399,055) (399,055) 

Modified gains and losses on loans and receivables   - (7,329) (17,022) (24,351) 

New business and change in exposure   3,836,151 59,604 (112,952) 3,782,803 

Balance as at 31 March 2019   32,426,467 6,467,623 2,051,089 40,945,179 

 
13.2. Modified loans and receivables 
 
  Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
2019 Group and Company  R’000 R’000 R’000 
     
Modified loans and advances since 1 April 2018  68,741 168,638 237,379 

     
 
 2018 Company 
 No comparative information is available for the prior year as the modifications did not apply under IAS 39. 
 
 
13.3. Detailed product analysis on impairments raised 
 
  Gross loans 

and 
receivables  

 ECL allowances   Net loans 
and 

receivables  
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

 2019 Group and Company  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

      

 Retail lease  976,062 (5,898) (4,733) (4,714) 960,717 

 Retail finance  36,208,664 (209,619) (385,470) (660,508) 34,953,067 

 Wholesale  3,760,453 (4,179) (9,425) - 3,746,849 
 40,945,179 (219,696) (399,628) (665,222) 39,660,633 

 
 

  Gross loans and 
receivables 

 Portfolio 
impairments  

 Specific 
impairments  

 Net loans and 
receivables  

 2018 Company   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

      

 Retail Lease                    918,984                      (7,762)                        (823)                  910,399  

 Retail Finance              33,978,298                 (532,544)                (159,120)            33,286,634  

 Wholesale                3,452,812                      (5,619)                  (58,444)              3,388,749  
             38,350,094                 (545,925)                (218,387)            37,585,782  
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13. Loans and receivables (continued) 
 
13.4. Credit impairment by product 
  Retail lease Retail finance Wholesale Total 

2019 Group and Company   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
      

Balance at 1 April 2018 (IAS 39)   8,585 691,664 64,063 764,312 

Transitional adjustments on adoption of IFRS 9   3,566 331,951 - 335,517 

Restated balance at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   12,151 1,023,615 64,063 1,099,829 

Impairments raised/(released)   3,194 231,982 (50,459) 184,717 

Balance at  31 March 2019   15,345 1,255,597 13,604 1,284,546 

 

2018 Company      

      

Balance at 1 April 2017   6,843 529,555 23,137 559,535 

Impairments raised   1,742 162,109 40,926 204,777 

Balance at  31 March 2018   8,585 691,664 64,063 764,312 

 
 

2019 Group and Company   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  Total  
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

      

Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   30,734,570 5,410,174 1,441,038 37,585,782 

Transfer to Stage 2   (1,605,740) 1,752,775 (147,035) - 

Transfer to Stage 3   (538,514) (747,601) 1,286,115 - 

Write offs   - - (399,055) (399,055) 

Modified gains and losses on loans and receivables   - (7,329) (17,022) (24,351) 

New business and change in exposure   3,836,151 59,604 (112,952) 3,782,803 

Balance as at 31 March 2019   32,426,467 6,467,623 2,051,089 40,945,179 

 
13.5. Analysis of net impairment charge for credit losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
    Group  Company Company 

   2019 2019 2018 

   R’000 R’000 R’000 

      

Retail lease and finance impairment charge                     235,177  235,177 163,851 

Wholesale impairment (charge) / release                     (50,459) (50,459) 40,926 

Modified losses                       25,351  25,351 - 

Write offs                     399,055  399,055 263,904 

Recoveries                     (62,657) (62,657) (50,957) 

Impairment charge per the statement of comprehensive income  546,467 546,467 417,724 

 
13.6. ECL by Stage 
 
2019 Group and Company  

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  Total  
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
All products      
Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   165,558 221,397 377,357 764,312 
Transition adjustments in terms of IFRS 9  29,096 183,937 122,484 335,517 

Restated balance as at 1 April 2018   194,654 405,334 499,841 1,099,829 
Transfer to stage 1  60,154 (49,709) (10,445) 0 
Transfer to stage 2  (19,120) 53,542 (34,422) 0 
Transfer to stage 3  (4,851) (98,461) 103,312 0 
Movements for the year   (11,142) 88,922 491,845 569,625 
Interest in suspense   - - 14,146 14,146 
Write offs   - - (399,055) (399,055) 

Balance as at 31 March 2019  219,695 399,628 665,222 1,284,545 
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13. Loans and receivables (continued) 
 
13.6. ECL by product 
 
2019 Group and Company  
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  Total  
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Retail lease      
Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   819 823 6,943 8,585 
Transition adjustments in terms of IFRS 9  5,031 2,916 (4,382) 3,565 

Restated balance as at 1 April 2018   5,850 3,739 2,561 12,150 
Transfer to stage 1  1,371 (1,338) (33) - 
Transfer to stage 2  (364) 490 (126) - 
Transfer to stage 3  (48) (372) 420 - 
Movements for the year   (912) 2,214 3,073 4,375 
Interest in suspense   - - - - 
Write offs   - - (1,181) (1,181) 

Balance as at 31 March 2019   5,897 4,733 4,714 15,344 
      
      
Retail finance      
Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   159,120 162,130 370,414 691,664 
Transition adjustments in terms of IFRS 9  24,065 181,021 126,866 331,952 

Restated balance as at 1 April 2018   183,185 343,151 497,280 1,023,616 
Transfer to stage 1  58,783 (48,371) (10,412) 0 
Transfer to stage 2  (18,756) 53,052 (34,296) 0 
Transfer to stage 3  (4,803) (98,089) 102,892 0 
Movements for the year   (8,790) 135,727 488,772 615,709 
Interest in suspense   - - 14,146 14,146 
Write offs   - - (397,874) (397,874) 

Balance as at 31 March 2019  209,619 385,470 660,508 1,255,597 
      
      
Wholesale      
Balance as at 1 April 2018 (IFRS 9)   5,619 58,444 - 64,063 
Transition adjustments in terms of IFRS 9  - - - - 

Restated balance as at 1 April 2018   5,619 58,444 - 64,063 
Transfer to stage 1  - - - - 
Transfer to stage 2  - - - - 
Transfer to stage 3  - - - - 
Movements for the year   (1,440) (49,019) - (50,459) 
Interest in suspense   - - - - 
Write offs   - - - - 

Balance as at 31 March 2019  4,179 9,425 - 13,604 
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14. Other investments 

   Group   Company   Company  
  2019 2019 2018 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 

     

Fair value of insurance cell   21,852 21,852 - 

Deferred tax  (6,119) (6,119) - 

Restated equity reserve as at 1 April 2018  15,733 15,733 - 

Fair value adjustment of insurance cell  - - - 

Balance of equity reserve as at 31 March 2019  15,733 15,733 - 

 
 
Other investments relate to an investment in Hollard Business Associates. This was created as a partnership with Hollard to 
house the Group’s insurance products. Dividends are received on a bi-annual basis. This was historically measured at cost (R1). 
With the adoption of IFRS 9, this equity investment has been reclassified and is carried at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 
 
 
15. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Opening 
balance 

R’000 
Additions 

R’000 

Transfers 
to 

inventory 
R’000 

Disposals 
R’000 

 Depreciation  
R’000 

 Total 
R’000         

 2019 Group and Company        
 Office furniture and equipment  3,201 1,131 - (18) (1,333) 2,981 
 FMR Motor vehicles  579,197 514,236 (39,208) (581,908) (46,705) 425,612 

 582,398 515,367 (39,208) (581,926) (48,038) 428,593 
       
       

 2018 Company        
 Office furniture and equipment  3,339 1,176 - 1,174 (2,488) 3,201 

 FMR Motor vehicles  87,403 643,989 - (48,889) (103,306) 579,197 
 90,742 645,165 - (47,715) (105,794) 582,398 

 

       

2019 Group and Company reconciliation  

   

 Cost 
R’000  

 Accumulated 
 Depreciation 

R’000  

 Net book 
value 
R’000  

       

 Office furniture and equipment     6,147 (3,166) 2,981 

 FMR Motor vehicles     519,149 (93,537) 425,612 
    525,296 (96,703) 428,593 

 2018 Company reconciliation        
 Office furniture and equipment     5,571 (2,370) 3,201 

 FMR Motor vehicles     709,274 (130,077) 579,197 
 
   714,845 (132,447) 582,398 

*No items of property, plant or equipment are held as security for loans or liabilities. 
 
16. Intangible assets 

  
Opening 
balance 

R’000 
Additions 

R’000 
Disposals 

R’000 
 Amortisation  

R’000 
 Total 
R’000  

 2019 Group and Company   
     

 Computer software                      
2,299  

                   
1,693  

                          
-    

                      
(1,566) 

                   
2,426  

       

 2018 Company   
     

 Computer software                      
1,596  

                   
1,420  

                     
(128) 

                         
(589) 

                   
2,299  
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16. Intangible assets (continued) 

  
   Cost  

 Accumulated 
depreciation  

 Net book 
value  

    R’000 R’000 R’000 

2019 Group and Company reconciliation   
     

Computer software   
  

                   
5,032  

                      
(2,606) 

                   
2,426  

  
     

2018 Company reconciliation   
     

Computer software   
  

                   
3,232  

                         
(933) 

                   
2,299  

 
 
17. Loan from subsidiary 

   Company   Company  
  2019 2018 
Subsidiary  R’000 R’000 

 

Loan from Spartan House 2018 (RF)  522,097 - 

    

 
Split between non-current and current portions 

Non-current liabilities  497,016 - 

Current liabilities  25,081 - 
 

 522,097 - 

 
Loans and advances with a carrying amount of R497,015,724 (2018: R -) were pledged as security for long term borrowings of 
R513,035,753 (2018: R -). The average tenor of the securitised loans and advances is 39 months and the average interest rate is 
13.05%. The intercompany loan has the same exposures as the securitised loans and advances. 
 
 
 
18. Investment in subsidiary 
 
 
18a. Investment in subsidiary 
 

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited  89,247 - 

    

 
Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited was incorporated in South Africa and the principal activity of the Company is to acquire the 
right, title and interest in participating assets in respect of one or more transactions through series. Funds are raised directly or 
indirectly through the issue of the participating assets so acquired. 
 
The Company invested in a Class B note issued by Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited. The note is unlisted and has a legal maturity 
date  of 18 July 2022. The interest on the note is paid quarterly in arrears each year and the interest rate is linked to the 3 month 
JIBAR plus a margin of 8%. 

 
 
18b. Receivable from subsidiary 
 

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Limited  4,140 - 

    

 
The receivable due from subsidiary relates to the accrued interest on the Class B note due to the Company.     
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19. Deferred tax  
 
2019 Group and Company 
 
Tax effect of temporary differences 

 
  Opening balance     Movement     Closing balance   

 
  R’000     R’000     R’000   

    

 IFRS 9 transition adjustment                                             -                    87,826                  87,826  

 ECL allowance  - 93,945 93,945 

 Fair value of other investments   - (6,119) (6,119) 

 Leases and wear and tear                                 (19,537)                (18,901)                (38,438) 

 Impairments                                    63,538                 (14,423)                 49,115  

 Provision for leave pay and bonus                                     7,289                     1,103                     8,392  

 Deferred income                                   41,439                        807                  42,246  

 Deferred employee benefit liability                                     4,708                      (409)                    4,299  

 Operating leases                                   5,653                  20,945                26,598  

 Other 4,520 (4,912) (392) 
 

                               107,610                  72,036                179,646  

 
 
2018 Company 
 
Tax effect of temporary differences 

    

 Leases and wear and tear  (27,186) 7,649 (19,537) 

 Impairments  117,912 (54,374) 63,538 

 Provision for leave pay and bonus  6,566 723 7,289 

 Deferred income  37,971 3,468 41,439 

 Deferred employee benefit liability  4,421 287 4,708 

 Deferred origination costs (1,024) 1,024 - 

 Interest rate swap 1,550 (1,550) - 

 Operating leases - 5,653 5,653 

 Other 3,338 1,182 4,520 

 143,548 (42,246) 107,610 

 
20. Trade and other payables 
 

  Group   Company   Company  

  2019 2019 2018 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 

     

Sundry creditors  487,853 487,853 455,303 

Toyota South Africa Motors Proprietary Limited  1,275,781 1,275,781 1,019,093 

Accrued expenses  35,728 35,062 58,291 

Guaranteed future value provision  1,770 1,770 16,177 

VAT payable / (receivable)*  - - (17,649) 

Total trade and other payables  1,801,132 1,800,466 1,531,215 

 
 
*VAT receivable has been reclassified in the current financial year from trade and other payables to trade and other receivables 
to better reflect the nature. Prior year VAT receivable has not been reclassified as the amount is considered to be immaterial. 
 
Trade and other payables are all due within one year, and therefore reported as current liabilities. The total trade and other 
payables are held at amortised cost. Directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other payables to approximate fair 
value.  
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21. Borrowings 
 
2019 Group and Company 
 
Split by maturity  

   

 Counterparty  
Interest  

Less than 1 year 
R’000 

More than one 
year 

R’000 

Total 
R’000 

  
   

ABSA Bank  Variable  - 300,000 300,000 

BNP Paribas  Fixed  200,000 - 200,000 

Citibank  Variable   600,000 600,000 

Impumulelo RF  Variable   600,000 600,000 

Investec Bank Limited  Fixed  150,000 - 150,000 

Ivuzi Investments  Variable  - 300,000 300,000 

Mizuho Bank  Fixed  1,800,000 1,300,000 3,100,000 

Mizuho Bank  Variable  400,000 200,000 600,000 

MUFG Bank  Fixed  2,100,000 6,200,000 8,300,000 

MUFG Bank  Variable  - 600,000 600,000 

Nedbank  Fixed  100,000 - 100,000 

Rand Merchant Bank  Fixed  508,448 - 508,448 

Standard Bank  Fixed  100,000 - 100,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe  Fixed  1,100,000 3,900,000 5,000,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe  Variable  900,000 2,700,000 3,600,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank  Variable  300,000 - 300,000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V  Fixed  200,000 1,550,000 1,750,000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V  Variable  600,000 1,000,000 1,600,000 

Bonds  Variable  1,196,000 4,713,000 5,909,000 

Commercial Paper  Variable  650,000 - 650,000 

Total borrowings – Company  10,304,448 23,963,000 34,267,448 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Variable 248,036 265,000 513,036 

Asset backed securitisation loan – Group  
   

Total borrowings – Group  10,552,484 24,228,000 34,780,484 

  
   

 
 

   

2018 Company   
   

  
   

ABSA Bank Variable - 300,000 300,000 

BNP Paribas Fixed 200,000 - 200,000 

Citibank Fixed 150,000 - 150,000 

Subtotal Variable - 400,000 400,000 

Ivuzi Investments Variable - 300,000 300,000 

JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A Variable 200,000 - 200,000 

Mizuho Bank Fixed 1,100,000 2,000,000 3,100,000 

Mizuho Bank Variable 200,000 400,000 600,000 

Mizuho International Fixed 200,000 - 200,000 

Mizuho International Variable 100,000 - 100,000 

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust Fixed 600,000 - 600,000 

MUFG Bank Europe Fixed 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 

MUFG Bank London Branch Fixed 500,000 6,900,000 7,400,000 

MUFG Bank London Branch Variable - 600,000 600,000 

Nedbank Fixed 100,000 - 100,000 

Rand Merchant Bank Fixed 1,506,711 - 1,506,711 

Standard Bank Fixed 100,000 - 100,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Fixed - 3,000,000 3,000,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe Variable 1,200,000 3,300,000 4,500,000 

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Variable 600,000 300,000 900,000 
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21. Borrowings (continued) 

 Counterparty  
Interest 

 
 Less than 1 year  

R’000 
 More than one year 

R’000  
 Total  
R’000 

     

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Fixed - 400,000 400,000 

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V Variable 500,000 900,000 1,400,000 

Bonds Variable 1,792,000 3,401,000 5,193,000 

Commercial Paper Variable 986,000 - 986,000 

Total Borrowings – Company  11,234,711 22,201,000 33,435,711 

 
 
 
 
Type of loan Maturity dates Average interest 

rates 
2019 2018 

   R’000 R’000 
Fixed rate loans     
Unsecured loans  Due within 1 year 5.9% - 9.7% 7,400,000 3,000,000 
Unsecured loans Due within 5 years 6.2% - 9.7% 10,750,000 12,300,000 
     
Fixed subtotal – Group and Company  18,150,000 15,300,000 
     
 
Variable rate loans (linked to 1 month JIBAR, 3 month JIBAR or Prime interest rates) 
Domestic Medium Term Note    
- Secured Commercial paper Due within 1 year + 80bps – 85 bps 650,000 986,000 
- Secured Bonds Due within 1 year + 75 bps – 145 bps  1,196,000 1,792,000 
- Secured Bonds Due within 5 years + 100 bps – 165 bps  4,713,000 3,401,000 

Unsecured loans Due within 1 year + 90 bps – 123 bps 2,000,000 3,400,000 
Unsecured loans Due within 5 years + 75 bps – 148 bps 6,500,000 6,500,000 
Call loan On call 7.65% - 9.0% 1,058,448 2,056,711 
     
Variable subtotal – Company  16,117,448 18,135,711 
     

Total borrowings – Company  34,267,448 33,435,711 

Asset backed securitisation 
loan – Group 

Due within 5 years Up to 126 bps 513,036 - 

Total borrowings – Group   34,780,484 - 

     
 
The Domestic Bonds were issued, under the established R7 billion Domestic Medium Term Note Programme  (“the  programme”). 
The security for the programme is provided by Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands BV in the form of a guarantee under a credit 
support structure from Toyota Motor Corporation. 
 
Commercial paper is issued under the same Domestic Medium Term Note Programme as above and is issued on a zero-  coupon 
basis and held at amortised cost. 
 
The loans from ABSA Bank, BNP Paribas, Citibank, Impumulelo RF, Investec Bank Limited, Ivuzi Investments, JP Morgan, Mizuho 
Bank, Mizuho International, MUFG Bank, Nedbank, Rand Merchant Bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Bank Corporation Europe (SMBC), 
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Standard Bank, Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V are all Rand denominated, unsecured and 
payable on maturity date. Bank borrowings are held at amortised cost. 
 
In December 2018, the Group received an interest bearing loan from SMBC for an initial amount of R500 million. This borrowing 
is securitised by loan advances which is a mix of variable and fixed interest rates (See note 17). Asset backed securitisation loans 
are held at amortised cost. 
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22. Current tax asset and tax paid 

 
 

Group 
2019 

R’000 

Company 
2019 

R’000 

Company 
2018 

R’000 

     

Opening liability / (receivable)                      (15,451)  (15,451) 2,969  

Current tax charge  173,046                               172,382 144,703 

Current tax receivable  90,378 88,979 15,451 

Tax paid                247,973                245,910  163,143  

 
Current tax receivables are due subject to assessment and approval by the tax authority. 
 
 
23. Employee benefit liability 
 
Group and Company 
 
Defined contribution plan    
 
All employees contribute to the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund which is governed by the Pension Fund Act of South Africa, 
1956. This is a defined contribution fund. 
 
Pension contributions of R 9.61 million (2018: R8.69 million) were made during the year and are included in staff costs. 
 

   Group   Company   Company  
Defined post-employment medical aid liability  2019 2019 2018 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 
 

 
   

Present value of the defined benefit obligation-wholly 
unfunded  

(15,354) (15,354) (16,816) 

 
 
Regulatory Framework 
 
The pension plan is regulated by the Financial Services Board in South Africa. The medical plan is regulated by the Registrar of 
the Council of Medical Schemes. 
 
This post-employment health care liability consists of a commitment to pay a portion of the members’ post-employment medical 
scheme contributions who were in the employment of WesBank prior to 1 December 1998, and who transferred to the Group. This 
liability is also generated in respect of dependents who are offered continued membership of the medical scheme on the death of 
the primary member. Members who were employed on or after 1 December 1998 do not qualify for a post-employment medical 
subsidy. 
 
Each sensitivity analysis is based on changing one assumption while keeping all other remaining assumptions constant. In practice 
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. The sensitivity analysis has been calculated 
in terms of the projected unit credit method and illustrates how the value of the liability would change in response to certain 
changes in actuarial assumptions. 
 
The valuation report below was performed as at 31 March 2019. 
 
Group and Company 
 
 

 

 Discount rate 
Employer’s accrued liability 

1% decrease 
R ‘000 

 
17,989 

Valuation 
Basis 

R ‘000 
15,354 

1% increase 
R ‘000 

 
13,244 

Employer’s service and interest cost 2,340 2,144 1,976 

Health care cost inflation 
 

   

Employer’s accrued liability 13,217 15,354 17,984 

Employer’s service and interest cost 1,837 2,144 2,524 
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23. Employee benefit liability (continued) 
 
 PA (90)-3 Valuation 

Basis 
PA (90)-1 

Mortality R’000 R’000 R’000 
Employer’s accrued liability 15,755 15,354 14,950 

Employer’s service and interest cost 2,200 2,144 2,088 

Average retirement age    

Employer’s accrued liability 17,610 15,354 14,640 
Employer’s service and interest cost 2,149 2,144 2,063 

 
Significant assumptions 
 
The liability derived by this valuation is dependent on the following assumptions: 

- Discount rate 
- Health care cost inflation 
- Mortality, and 
- Average retirement age. 

 
 

2019   
Discount rate Nominal Government Bond Yield Curve rounded to nearest 0.25% 10.85% 
Inflation rate Difference between nominal and index linked bond yield curves plus 0.5% 

inflation risk premium. 
6.80% 

Medical inflation Inflation rate plus 1.5% 8.30% 
   
2018   
Discount rate Nominal Government Bond Yield Curve rounded to nearest 0.25% 9.00% 
Inflation rate Difference between nominal and index linked bond yield curves plus 0.5% 

inflation risk premium. 
6.00% 

Medical inflation Inflation rate plus 1.5% 7.50% 
 

     
  Group Company Company 

Defined benefit liability  2019 2019 2018 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 

     

Opening balance   16,816 16,816 15,789 

Interest cost  1,505 1,505 1,531 

Service cost  587 587 545 

Benefit payments  (180) (180) (178) 

Expected liability   18,728 18,728 17,698 

Basis change  (2,766) (2,766) (733) 

Medical inflation  133 133 (11) 

Membership changes  (741) (741) (138) 

Closing liability   15,354 15,354 16,816 

 
 
24. Share capital and share premium 
 

   Group   Company   Company  
  2019 2019 2018 
 Authorised  R’000 R’000 R’000 
 

 
   

 6 000 ordinary shares of R1 each  6 6 6 

 
 

 Issued  
   

     
 4 695 ordinary shares of R1 each  5 5 5 
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24. Share capital and share premium (continued) 
 
 

Share premium     

     

200 shares at a premium of R149 999  30,000 30,000 30,000 

4200 shares at a premium of R99 999  419,995 419,995 419,995 

195 shares at a premium of R999 999  195,000 195,000 195,000 

  644,995 644,995 644,995 

 
There was no change to the issued share capital of the Group during the year. The authorised but unissued shares are under the 
control of the existing shareholders. The share premium account is regarded as permanent capital of the Group and is not available 
for distribution. 
 
 
25. Financial risk management 
 
25.1. Credit risk management 
 
The Group is exposed to significant  credit  risks,  which  it  manages  by  authorising  credit  limits  based  on  client  profiles   and 
monitoring customer arrears and payment history. Credit risk arises from exposures to wholesale and retail customer contracts, 
including outstanding receivables and  committed  transactions  as  well  as  cash  and  cash  equivalents  and deposits with banks 
and financial institutions. The carrying amount of financial assets in the consolidated annual financial statements is recorded net 
of estimated impairment losses. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
   Retail lease   Retail finance   Wholesale   Total  

 2019 Group and Company   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
      

 Loans and receivables       

 Stage 1   839,307 29,863,906 2,314,354 33,017,567 

 Stage 2   109,687 3,766,420 1,432,495 5,308,602 

 Stage 3  11,723 1,322,741 - 1,334,464 

 Total loans and receivables   960,717 34,953,067 3,746,849 39,660,633 
      

 
 
   Retail lease   Retail finance   Wholesale   Total  

 2018 Company   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
      

 Loans and receivables       

 Performing   885,663 30,501,228 3,388,749 34,775,640 

 Past due but not specifically impaired   17,824 1,716,603 - 1,734,427 

 Specifically impaired  6,912 1,068,803 - 1,075,715 

 Total loans and receivables   910,399 33,286,634 3,388,749 37,585,782 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.2. Market risk 
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the market rates as a result of lending and borrowing 
activities. This is managed through the management and monitoring of assets and liabilities, which are sensitive to interest rate 
fluctuations. The capital risk management is managed by a risk committee which comprises of the CEO and heads of Risk and 
Finance. 
 
The Group issues a mixture of fixed and floating interest rate, short and long-term debt, which is used to fund a mixture of fixed 
and floating interest rate assets. The Group manages interest rate risk on a portfolio basis by maintaining an appropriate mix of 
fixed and floating rate borrowings. 
 
The table below summarises the exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets and liabilities into repricing categories, 
determined to be the earlier of contractual re-pricing date or maturity.  
 

  
Up to 1 

month R’000 

1 to 3 
months 

R’000 

4 to 12 
months 

R’000 

Beyond 
12 

months 
R’000 

Non-interest 
sensitive items 

R’000 

Total 
R’000 

 2019 Group        

       

 Assets        

 Property, plant and equipment   - - - - 428,593 428,593 

 Intangible assets  - - - - 2,426 2,426 

 Loans and receivables (variable)  17,402,351 - - - - 17,402,351 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)  - - - - 22,258,282 22,258,282 

 Other investments   - - - - 21,852 21,852 

 Deferred tax  - - - - 179,646 179,646 

 Inventories -    -    -    -    39,208  39,208  

 Trade and other receivables   - - - - 57,208 57,208 

 Cash and cash equivalents  135,625 - - - - 135,625 

 Current tax receivable  -    -    -    -    90,378  90,378  
 17,537,976 - - - 23,077,593 40,615,569  

 
 
 

 
 Up to 1 month 

R’000 

 1 to 3 
months 

R’000  

 4 to 12 
months 

R’000  

 Beyond 12 
months 

R’000  

 Non-interest 
sensitive items  

R’000 

 Total 
R’000  

       

Liabilities        

 Long term borrowings 
(variable)  

1,258,448 15,372,036 - - - 16,630,484 

 Long term borrowings (fixed)  - - - - 18,150,000 18,150,000 

 Loan from subsidiary  - - - - - - 

 Employee benefits liability  - - - - 15,354 15,354 

 Deferred income  - - - - 150,876 150,876 

 Trade and other payables  - - - - 1,801,132 1,801,132 

 Bank overdraft  126,285 - - - - 126,285 
 1,384,733 15,372,036 - - 20,117,362 36,874,131 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.2. Market risk (continued) 
 

 
 Up to 1 month 

R’000 

 1 to 3 
months 

R’000  

 4 to 12 
months 

R’000  

 Beyond 12 
months 

R’000  

 Non-interest 
sensitive items  

R’000 

 Total 
R’000  

 
2019 Company  

 
     

       

 Assets  
 

     

 Property, plant and equipment   - - - - 428,593 428,593 

 Intangible assets  - - - - 2,426 2,426 

 Investment in subsidiary  - 93,387 - - - 93,387 

 Loans and receivables (variable) 
 

17,402,351 
 

-   
 

-   
 

-   
 

-   
 

17,402,351 
 

 Loans and receivables (fixed) 
 

-   
 

-   
 

-   
 

-   
 

22,258,282 
 

22,258,282 
 

 Other investments   
 

-
 

-
 

-
 

-
 

21,852
 

21,852
 

 Inventories  - - - - 39,208 39,208 

 Trade and other receivables   - - - - 58,131 58,131 

 Receivable from subsidiary  - - - - 179,646 179,646 

 Cash and cash equivalents  49,402  -    -    -    -    49,402  

 Current tax receivable  - - - - 88,979 88,979 
 

17,451,753 93,387 - - 23,077,117 40,622,257 

       
 Liabilities  

 
     

 Long term borrowings (variable)  1,258,448 14,859,000 - - - 16,117,448 

 Long term borrowings (fixed)  - - - - 18,150,000 18,150,000 

 Employee benefits liability  - - - - 15,354 15,354 

 Loan from subsidiary  522,097 - - - - 522,097 

 Deferred income  - - - - 150,876 150,876 

 Trade and other payables  - - - - 1,800,466 1,800,466 

 Bank overdraft  126,285 - - - - 126,285 
 

1,906,830 14,859,000 - - 20,116,696 36,882,526 
 
      

 2018 Company  
 

     

       

 Assets  
 

     

 Loans and receivables (variable)  15,015,740 - - - - 15,015,740 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)  - - - - 22,570,042 22,570,042 

 Property, plant and equipment   - - - - 582,398 582,398 

 Intangible assets  - - - - 2,299 2,299 

 Trade and other receivables   62,011 - - - - 62,011 

 Cash and bank balances   293,677 
 

- - - 293,677 

 Deferred tax asset   - - - - 107,610 107,610 

 Current tax asset  - - - - 15,451 15,451 
 

15,371,428 - - - 23,277,800 38,649,228 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.2. Market risk (continued) 
 
 
 

 
 Up to 1 month 

R’000 

 1 to 3 
months 

R’000  

 4 to 12 
months 

R’000  

 Beyond 12 
months 

R’000  

 Non-interest 
sensitive items  

R’000 

 Total 
R’000  

 
Liabilities  

 
     

 Long term borrowings   2,056,711 16,079,000 - - 15,300,000 33,435,711 

 Employee benefits liability   - - - - 16,816 16,816 

 Trade and other payables  - - - - 1,531,215 1,531,215 

 Deferred income  - - - - 147,966 147,996 

 Bank overdraft   109,293 - - - - 109,293 
 

2,166,004 16,079,000 - - 16,996,027 35,241,031 

 
 
 
 
25.3. Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they 
fall due. The management of liquidity is primarily carried out in accordance with practices and limits set by the Toyota Financial 
Services Corporation (TFSC) global policy. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by employing a number of funding strategies and utilising monitoring tools. Diversification of 
funding sources via short-term and long-term capital markets and committed and uncommitted bank facilities are used to manage 
borrowing capacity. Capital market activity is further managed by the use of a Guarantee from Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands 
BV, under a Credit Support Agreement in place with Toyota Motor Corporation. 
 
Liquidity requirements are managed by the use of both short and long-term cash flow forecasts and monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.3. Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Financial assets 

  Due within 1 year 
R’000 

Due between 1 and 
5 years 

R’000 

Due after 
5 years 

R’000 

 Total 
R’000  

 

2019 Group       

Loans and receivables   11,737,393 27,923,240 - 39,660,633 

Trade and other receivables    57,208 - - 57,208 

Cash and cash equivalents   135,625 - - 135,625 
  11,930,226 27,923,240 - 39,853,466 
      

2019 Company       

Loans and receivables   11,737,393 27,923,240 - 39,660,633 

Trade and other receivables    58,131 - - 58,131 

Cash and cash equivalents   49,402 - - 49,402 
  11,844,926 27,923,240 - 39,768,166 
      

      

2018 Company       

Loans and receivables    13,216,142 24,369,640 - 37,585,782 

Trade and other receivables    62,011 - - 62,011 

Cash and bank balances    293,677 - - 293,677 
  13,571,830 24,369,640 - 37,941,470 

 
Financial liabilities 
 
 

2019 Group       

Long term borrowings   10,552,484 24,228,000 - 34,780,484 

Employee benefits liability   - - 15,354 15,354 

Trade and other payables   1,801,132 - - 1,801,132 

Deferred income   33,525 117,351 - 150,876 

Bank overdraft   126,285 - - 126,285 
  12,513,426 24,345,351 15,354 36,874,131 
      

2019 Company       

Long term borrowings   10,304,448 23,963,000 - 34,267,448 

Loan from subsidiary   25,081 497,016 - 522,097 

Employee benefits liability   - - 15,354 15,354 

Trade and other payables   1,800,466 - - 1,800,466 

Deferred income   33,525 117,351 - 150,876 

Bank overdraft   126,285 - - 126,285 
  12,289,805 24,577,367 15,354 36,882,526 
      

2018 Company        

Long Term borrowings    11,234,711 22,201,000 - 33,435,711 

Employee benefits liability   - - 16,816 16,816 

Trade and other payables   1,531,215 - - 1,531,215 

Bank overdraft    109,293 - - 109,293 

Deferred income   38,439 109,557 - 147,996 
  12,913,658 22,310,557 16,816 35,241,031 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.4. Sensitivity analysis 
 
The sensitivity analysis is prepared based on financial instruments that are recognised at the end of the reporting period. This    is 
the case even where those exposures did not exist for the entire period or where the exposure changed materially during the 
period. The  sensitivity that  is applied is the amount that  could  reasonably be expected to  occur  and  has  been determined  as 
100 basis points up and down. 

   
 Effect on profit before tax of 1% 

increase in rates 
R’000  

  Total carrying value 
R’000   

 2019 Group       

 Assets       

 Loans and receivables (variable)                       174,023                17,402,351  

 Loans and receivables (fixed)    -  
             

22,258,282
 

 Trade and other receivables    -                       57,208  

 Cash and cash equivalents                            1,356                      135,625  

 Current tax receivable    -                       90,378  
      

 Liabilities       

 Long term borrowings (variable)                     (166,305)              (16,630,484) 

 Long term borrowings (fixed)    -              (18,150,000) 

 Trade and other payables    -                (1,801,132) 

 Deferred income    -                   (150,876) 

 Bank overdraft                          (1,262)                   (126,285) 
      

 Net exposure  
 
                         7,812  

 
                3,085,067  

 
     

      

      

 2019 Company  
 
    

 Assets  
 
    

 Loans and receivables (variable)  
 
                    174,023 

  
             17,402,351 

 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)  
 
 -  

             
22,258,282 

 Trade and other receivables  
 
                        58,131  

 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
                            494  

 
                     49,402  

 Current tax receivable  
 
 -                       88,979  

 Investment in subsidiary   934  93,387 
 
     

 Liabilities  
 
    

 Long term borrowings (variable)  
 
                  (161,174) 

 
            (16,117,448) 

 Long term borrowings (fixed)  
 
 -              (18,150,000) 

 Loan from subsidiary   (5,221)  (522,097) 

 Trade and other payables  
 
 -                (1,800,466) 

 Deferred income  
 
 -                   (150,876) 

 Bank overdraft  
 
                       (1,262) 

 
                 (126,285) 

 
     

 Net exposure  
 
                         7,794  

 
                3,083,360  

 
 
The effect of a 1% change in interest rates is shown above. 
 
 
  



Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited 
(Registration number 1982/010082/06) 
Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 
 

57 

 

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements 

 
25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.4. Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
   Effect on profit 

before tax of 1% 
increase in 

rates 
R’000  

 Total carrying value 
R’000   

 2018 Company     

 Assets     

 Loans and receivables (variable)   150,157 15,015,740
 

 Loans and receivables (fixed)   - 22,570,042
 

 Trade and other receivables   - 62,011 

 Cash and cash equivalents   2,937 293,677 

    

    

 Liabilities     

 Long term borrowings (variable)   (181,357) (18,135,711) 

 Long term borrowings (fixed)   - (15,300,000) 

 Trade and other payables   - (1,531,215) 

 Deferred income   - (147,996) 

 Bank overdraft   (1,093) (109,293) 

    

 Net exposure   (29,356) 2,717,255 

    

 
 
25.5. Fair market value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The fair value risk is managed by obtaining fair values from quoted market prices and discounted cash flow models. 
 
At 31  March 2019 the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, including bank overdrafts, trade and other receivables and  
trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 
 
The following table sets out the carrying value and fair value of those financial assets and liabilities not presented on the statement 
of financial position at fair value. 
 
(a) Fair value estimation 
 
The estimated fair value of loans and receivables is based on expected future cash flows discounted at current market rates. The 
fair value estimates will depend on customer prepayments, credit losses and expected future interest rates. 
 
The fair value of borrowings is based on current market prices where available. Where active market prices are not available,   the 
fair value of fixed interest borrowings is based on future cash flows discounted at the current rate for similar debt or assets with 
the same remaining maturities. 
 
(b) Carrying amounts and fair value of financial instruments 
 
The carrying value of loans and receivables is shown net of impairment. 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.5.1. Fair market value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 

  2019 2019 2018 2018 

    Carrying value 
R’000  

 Fair value 
R’000  

  Carrying value  
R’000 

 Fair value 
R’000  

      

 Financial assets       

      

 Group and Company       

 Retail lease                  960,717                 967,255                 910,399                 916,595  

 Retail finance             34,953,067            35,586,591            33,286,634            33,889,954  

 Wholesale               3,746,849              3,807,756              3,388,749              3,443,835  
            39,660,633            40,361,602            37,585,782            38,250,384  
      

 Financial liabilities       

      

      

 Group        

 Long term borrowings             28,221,484               28,458,247            27,256,711            27,288,604  

 Commercial paper  
 

               650,000                     659,344 
                986,000                 995,820  

 Domestic medium term note  
 

            5,909,000                  5,974,449
             5,193,000              5,208,935  

 
           34,780,484               35,092,040 

           33,435,711            33,493,359  
 
     

 Company  
 

    

 Long term borrowings  
 

          27,708,448            27,931,928            27,256,711            27,288,604  

 Commercial paper  
 

               650,000                     659,344 
                986,000                 995,820  

 Domestic medium term note  
 

            5,909,000                  5,974,449
 
            5,193,000              5,208,935  

 
           34,267,448            34,565,721            33,435,711            33,493,359  

 
25.5.2. Fair value disclosures 
    
Hierarchy levels   
  
The levels have been defined as follows:    
 
Level 1    
 
Fair value is based on quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for an identical financial asset or liability. An active 
market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide  pricing 
on an ongoing basis. 
 
Level 2 
 
Fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly, such as quoted prices, or 
indirectly, such as those derived from quoted prices. This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in 
active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices  for identical or similar instruments in markets  that are considered  less  than 
active or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 
 
Level 3 
 
Fair value is determined through valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments 
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instrument being 
valued and the similar instrument. 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.5.2. Fair value disclosures (continued) 
 
 

Instrument Valuation 
technique 

Description of valuation technique and assumptions Observable 
inputs 

Financial assets    
Loans and 
receivables 

Discounted 
cash flows 

Future cash flows are discounted using interest rate curves 
adjusted for credit inputs, over the contractual period. 
 
Since counterparties do not have actively traded or observable 
credit spreads, loans and receivables have been classified at 
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 

Interest rate curves 
and credit spreads 

    
Financial liabilities    
Borrowings Discounted 

cash flows 
Future cash flows are discounted using 
market-related interest rates adjusted for credit inputs, over 
the contractual period. 
 
Where the valuation technique incorporates observable inputs 
for credit risk, level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is deemed 
appropriate. 
 

Market interest 
rates and curves 

DMTN programme 
(listed bonds) 

Discounted 
cash flows 

Future cash flows are discounted using 
market-related interest rates adjusted for credit inputs, over 
the contractual period. 
 
Where the valuation technique incorporates observable inputs 
for credit risk, level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is deemed 
appropriate. 
 

Market interest 
rates and curves 

Commercial paper 
(listed bonds) 

Discounted 
cash flows 

Future cash flows are discounted using 
market-related interest rates adjusted for credit inputs, over 
the contractual period.   
 
Where the valuation technique incorporates observable inputs 
for credit risk, level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is deemed 
appropriate. 

Market interest 
rates and curves 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.6. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
 
During the year, no assets or liabilities were transferred between level 1, level 2 and level 3 (2018: Rnil) 

      

   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 2019 Group and Company       

 Financial assets       

 Retail lease                                -                                   -                       967,255                     967,255  

 Retail finance                                -                                   -                 35,586,591               35,586,591  

 Wholesale                                -                                   -                    3,807,756                  3,807,756  
                               -                                   -                 40,361,602               40,361,602  
      

      

 2019 Group        

 Financial liabilities       

 Long term borrowings                                -                 28,458,247                               -                 28,458,247  

 Commercial paper                                -                       659,344                               -                       659,344  

 Domestic medium term note                                -                    5,974,449                              -                    5,974,449 
                               -                 35,092,040                               -                 35,092,040  

 2019 Company  
 

    

 Financial liabilities  
 

    

 Long term borrowings  
 

                             -              27,931,928
                              -              27,931,928 

 
 Commercial paper  

 
                             -                       659,344                              -                       659,344  

 Domestic medium term note  
 

                             -                    5,974,449                              -                   5,974,449 
 
                              -              34,565,721                               -              34,565,721  
 
     

      

 2018 Company  
 

    

 Financial assets  
 

    

 Retail lease  
 

                             -                                   -                     916,595                     916,595  

 Retail finance  
 

                             -                                   -                33,889,954               33,889,954  

 Wholesale  
 

                             -                                   -                  3,443,835                  3,443,835  
 
                              -                                   -                38,250,384               38,250,384  

 2018 Company  
 

    

 Financial liabilities  
 

    

 Long term borrowings  
 

                             -                 27,288,604                              -                 27,288,604  

 Commercial paper  
 

                             -                       995,820                              -                       995,820  

 Domestic medium term note  
 

                             -                    5,208,935                               -                    5,208,935  
 
                              -                 33,493,359                              -                 33,493,359  
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.7. Categorisation of assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets 

  Note  
 Fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
R’000  

 Amortised 
cost 

R’000  

 Non-financial 
liabilities 

R’000  

 Total 
R’000  

 2019 Group       

 Property, plant and equipment   15 - - 428,593 428,593 

 Intangible assets  16 - - 2,426 2,426 

 Loans and receivables  13 - 39,660,633 - 39,660,633 

 Other investments  14 21,852 - - 21,852 

 Deferred tax  19 - - 179,646 179,646 

 Inventories  10 - - 39,208 39,208 

 Trade and other receivables   12 - 57,208 - 57,208 

 Cash and cash equivalents  11 - 135,625 - 135,625 

 Current tax receivable  22 - - 90,378 90,378 
  21,852 39,853,466 740,251 40,615,569 
      

 2019 Company       

 Property, plant and equipment   15 - - 428,593 428,593 

 Intangible assets  16 - - 2,426 2,426 

 Investment in subsidiary  18 - 93,387 - 93,387 

 Inventories 10 - - 39,208 39,208 

 Loans and receivables  13 - 39,660,633 - 39,660,633 

 Other investments  14 21,852 - - 21,852 

 Trade and other receivables   12 - 58,131 - 58,131 

 Cash and cash equivalents  11 - 49,402 - 49,402 

 Deferred tax  19 - - 179,646 179,646 

 Current tax receivable  22 - - 88,979 88,979 
  21,852 39,861,553 738,852 40,622,257 
      
      

 2018 Company       

 Property, plant and equipment   15 - - 582,398 582,398 

 Intangible assets  16 - - 2,299 2,299 

 Loans and receivables   13 - 37,585,782 - 37,585,782 

 Trade and other receivables   12 - 62,011 - 62,011 

 Cash and cash equivalents 11 - 293,677 - 293,677 

 Deferred tax    19 - - 107,610 107,610 

 Current tax asset  22 - - 15,451 15,451 
  - 37,941,470 707,758 38,649,228 
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25. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
25.7. Categorisation of assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
 
Financial liabilities 

  Note  
 Fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
R'000  

 Amortised cost 
R'000  

 Non-financial 
assets 
R'000  

 Total 
R'000  

 2019 Group       

 Long term borrowings  21                           -            34,780,484                            -            34,780,484  

 Employee benefits liability  23                           -                              -                    15,354                  15,354  

 Trade and other payables  20                           -               1,801,132                            -               1,801,132  

 Deferred income  31                           -                              -                  150,876                150,876  

 Bank overdraft  11                           -                  126,285                            -                  126,285  
                            -            36,707,901                166,230          36,874,131  
      

 2019 Company       

 Long term borrowings  21                           -            34,267,448                            -            34,267,448  

 Loan from subsidiary  17                           -                  522,097                            -                  522,097  

 Employee benefits liability  23                           -                              -                    15,354                  15,354  

 Trade and other payables  20                           -               1,800,466                            -               1,800,466  

 Deferred income  31                           -                              -                  150,876                150,876  

 Bank overdraft  11                           -                  126,285                            -                  126,285  
                            -            36,716,296                166,230          36,882,526  
      

 2018 Company        

 Long term borrowings   21                   -             33,435,711                    -             33,435,711  

 Employee benefits liability   23                   -                       -                     16,816                  16,816  

 Trade and other payables  20                   -                1,531,215                    -                1,531,215  

 Bank overdraft   11                   -                   109,293                    -                   109,293  

 Deferred income  31                147,996                 147,996  
                            -            35,224,215                  16,816          35,241,031  

 
 
 
 
26. Related parties 
 
The related parties of the Group consist of FirstRand Limited and its subsidiaries, Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited and its 

subsidiaries and Toyota Financial Services Corporation and its subsidiaries.  

 
   Group     Company     Company   

 2019 2019 2018 

  R'000   R'000   R'000  

WesBank1  
  

Management fees and other service related fees 292,089 292,089 275,348 
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26. Related parties (continued) 
   Group     Company     Company   

 2019 2019 2018 

  R'000   R'000   R'000  
    

Toyota South Africa Motors Proprietary Limited2 
 

  

Dealer funding solutions (vehicles purchased)                                  38,532                  38,532                  36,550  

Full maintenance rentals (vehicles purchased)                                514,993                514,993                643,989  

Salaries and rental expenses                                  18,505                  18,505                  18,172  

Marketing and entertainment expenses                                    8,088                     8,088                     8,359  

Guaranteed future value programmes                                  10,319                  10,319                  28,207  
 

 
  

Toyota Financial Services (UK) PLC3    

IT related costs 1,991 1,991 1,302 

    

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V.3    

Guarantee fee 10,972 10,972 9,334 

    

Loans from related parties  
  

FirstRand Bank Limited1                                508,448                508,448             1,506,711  

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V3                            3,350,000             3,350,000             1,800,000  

Ivuzi Investments1                                300,000                300,000                300,000  

Spartan House 2018 (RF)4                                           -                  522,097                            -    
 

 
  

Investment in subsidiary  
  

Spartan House Class B Note4                                           -                    93,387                            -    
 

 
  

Interest expense paid to related parties  
  

FirstRand Bank Limited1                                  33,157                  33,157                  79,725  

Toyota Motor Finance Netherlands B.V3                                241,395                241,395                104,121  

Ivuzi Investments1                                  25,498                  25,498                  21,597  

Spartan House 2018 (RF)4                                           -                    19,973                            -    
 

 
  

Interest income received from related parties  
  

Spartan House 2018 (RF)4                                           -                       4,140                            -    
 

 
  

Income from related parties  
  

Spartan House 2018 (RF) Servicer fees4                                           -                          888                            -    

 
Related party loan tenors vary between overnight and 5 years. Interest rates are based on the market driven fixed rate at the   time 
or alternatively based on the 3 month JIBAR at the last quarterly reset plus a market related margin. 
 
1 FirstRand Limited and its subsidiaries 
2 Subsidiary of Toyota South Africa Proprietary Limited 
3 Subsidiary of Toyota Financial Services Corporation 
4 Subsidiary of the Group 
 
Loans and advances to directors and prescribed 
officers  

  

Opening balance                                    2,418                     2,418                     2,384  

Loans advanced during the year                                    3,072                     3,072                     2,011  

Interest charged during the year                                        192                        192                        225  

Loan repayments during the year                                   (3,426)                  (3,426)                  (2,202) 

Closing balance                                    2,257                    2,257                     2,418  

 
Loans and advances to directors and prescribed officers relate to vehicle financing. Loans are charged at preferred risk weighted 
interest rates and vary between 8.75% - 9.25%. The tenor is dependent on the individual structure taken by the director/prescribed 
officer. 
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27. Events after the reporting period 
 
The Group issued commercial paper TFS 160 through Investec Bank on 25 April 2019. The instrument had a nominal value of 
R661 million (1 year at 83 basis points above the 3 month JIBAR rate). 
 
The Group issued bonds TFS 161 and TFS 162 through Investec Bank on 27 May 2019. The instruments had a nominal value of 
R94 million (3 year at 100 basis points above the 3 month JIBAR rate) and R406 million (5 year at 115 basis points above the 3 
month JIBAR rate). No other material transactions have occurred. 
 
28. Contingencies 
 
There is currently no pending or imminent litigation against Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited. 
 
 
29. Cash used in operations  

  Group     Company     Company   

  2019 2019 2018 

   R'000   R'000   R'000  

     

Profit before tax  747,916 745,545 716,524 

Interest and similar income  (5,025,885) (5,029,032) (4,552,329) 

Interest expense and similar charges  2,862,879 2,869,951 2,585,670 

Impairment  546,467 546,467 468,681 

Write offs recovered  (62,657) (62,657) (50,957) 

Dividends received  (73,800) (73,800) (72,371) 

Depreciation and amortisation  49,605 49,605 106,383 

Profit on disposals of assets  - - (2,657) 

Changes in working capital  (955,475) (953,921) (801,056) 

Inventories  (39,208) (39,208) - 

Trade and other payables  258,084 257,418 (73,611) 

Trade and other receivables  4,803 (259) (38,831) 

 Cash used in operations  (731,796) (735,970) (913,498) 

 
 
30. Deferred income 
 

Current portion  33,525 33,525 38,439 

Non-current portion  117,351 117,351 109,557 

Total deferred income  150,876 150,876 147,996 

 
31. Operating lease rentals 
 
Group and Company 
 

Building  3,607 3,607 3,502 

Vehicles  107 107 93 

Equipment  1,731 1,731 467 

Lease operating expenses  5,445 5,445 4,062 

 
Operating minimum lease rentals are payable as follows: 
 

  
2019 

Building 
R’000 

2019 
Equipment 

R’000 

2018 
Building 

R’000 

2018 
Equipment 

R’000 

 Group and Company    
    

       

 Less than 1 year   3,864 563 3,155 125 

 Between 1 and 5 years  15,458 2,251 12,620 499 
   19,322 2,814 15,775 624 
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32. Directors’ and prescribed officers emoluments 
 
Group and Company 
 

 Cash 
Package  

 Retirement 
Contribution  

 
Performance 

Related   Housing   Other *   Total  
 2019   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000  
 Directors        
 M.G. Burger   2,778   321   1,920   -   520   5,539  
 S.Sugimori   1,099   -     745   408   990   3,242  
 A.W. Hedding   372   -   -   -   -   372  
 N.D.B. Orleyn   335   -   -   -   -   335  
 N. Siyotula   287   -   -   -   -   287  
 T.S.C. Manaka   2,010   239   868   -     149   3,266  
 Subtotal Directors   6,881   560   3,533   408   1,659   13,041  
       
 Prescribed Officers        
 D. Leach   1,256   149   1,044   -     1,176   3,625  
 K. Van Zyl   1,570   159   651   -     167   2,547  
 N. Daya   1,601   146   498   -     -     2,245  
 S. Matsui   409   -   -   128   733   1,270  
 Subtotal  Prescribed Officers   4,836   454   2,193   128   2,076   9,687  
       

 Total   11,717   1,014   5,726   536   3,735   22,728  

       
 
 

 Cash 
Package  

 Retirement 
Contribution  

 
Performance 

Related   Housing   Other *   Total  
 2018   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000   R'000  
 Directors        
 M.G. Burger  2,579 297 1,824 - 500 5,200 
 S. Sugimori  2,007 - 964 587 2,131 5,689 
 A.W. Hedding  352 - - - - 352 
 N.D.B. Orleyn  238 - - - - 238 
 C.W.N. Molope  13 - - - - 13 
 Subtotal Directors  5,189 297 2,788 587 2,631 11,492 
       
 Prescribed Officers        
 D. Leach  2,085 240 909 - 105 3,339 
 T. Manaka  1,917 220 822 - 235 3,194 
 K. Van Zyl  1,528 146 551 - 65 2,290 
 N. Daya  1,363 125 324 - - 1,812 
 Subtotal  Prescribed Officers  6,893 731 2,606 - 405 10,635 
       

 Total  12,082 1,028 5,394 587 3,036 22,127 

 
 
During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in which directors or prescribed officers of the Group had an interest. All 
executive directors and prescribed officers have a notice period of one month. 
A prescribed officer is a person who exercises general executive control over management of the whole or a significant portion of 
the business and activities of Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited. 
The Directors not listed above receive no remuneration for their services to Toyota Financial Services (South Africa) Limited. 
 
* Other allowances include expatriate taxes, travel, medical and leave payouts. 
 
 


